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* In the course of 100 years, since Willard was settled, many interesting
and important events have happened, until now ne one has collected and
compiled the history of those events. Many people have expressed a de- |
sire to have a book made for reference and as a souvenir.

The Centennial idea was proposed.. A central committee was named
consisting of Bishop Delbert Cook and Rex Edwards representing the Ward
and A. P. Dalton, mayor, representing the City.

Under their direction, several committees have worked to make the
celebration a success. The history book was assigned to the Genealogical
Committee of the ward, because they had collected the information during
the past year or two. -

Every effort has been made to present a true and authentic history
of our town. Only essential and interesting things are related. Any

f oversight or omission is unintentional. Hannah B. Nicholas compiled
most of the material,

The members of the Genealogical Committee "who have furnished

g ) topics in the book are:

David Kunzler Elsie Kunkel

Lillian Kunzler ‘ Artimus Perry

Gerald Larkin Ruby Perry

Sue Larkin Adelia Johanson

A. B. Taylor Martha Wells

Lesh Taylor ' Francis H. Cook

Byron Warren Lucretia Cook

Alice Warren Lillie Brunker (now deceased)

Erie Kunkel : David T. Edwards (now deceased)

Hannah B. Nicholas

Others who have contributed are:

John A. Ward Robert W. Morgan

Phebe Harding o Rachel B. Nelson

Maria Zundel Alice Harding (now deceased)
f Judge B. C. Call
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Settlement of Willow Creel - Willard

On the 3st of March, 1851, the first set-
tlers of Willow Creek (Willard) came north
from Ogden and camped on the north side
of Willow Creek and prepared to make
permanent homes here. At that time, this
region was a part of Weber Co. '

On the night of their arrival, a foot of
snow came to welcome them. In all, there
were nineteen in the party, eleven adults and
gight children, They were not diseouraged.
They had come to make their homes, to till
the soil and become permanent citizens.

The members of the party were: Jona-
than Wells and his wife Margaret Gardner,
and their children Otis Nathaniel, Erastus
Nelson, Hulda M., Sarah Matilda, Julia Ann
and Juda Smith Wells, Lyman Wells and
his wife Bethia and small son Mortimer.
John Memory McCrary and his wife Sa-
mantha and small son William Austin.
Elisha Mallory and wife Mary, Mary Ann
Yearsley, her son Nathaniel and a young
man who lived in her home. The last three
named did not remain long, but moved back

to Ogden.

The morning after their arrival, the men
went into the Willard Mountain and brought
down logs to build some houses. They all
worked together, in what they called “housge
raising.” The houses had no floors, win-
dows nor fireplaces. The roofs were made
of split logs wth dirt piled over them, and

when it rained, mud trickled down the

walls.

Elisha Mallory was the first to get his
bouse up. His wife gave birth to a little
girl, being the first white child born in
Box Elder Co. Her name was KElizabeth
Eliza, and she was born n July, 1851.

John Memory McCrary's house was the
gecond to be built. His wife gave birth to
a2 baby girl on August 22, 1851. Her name
was Julia,

On August 28, 1851, George Jason Wells,
son of Lyman B. Bethia Wells, was born in
2 covered wagon which had been set on the
ground. He was the first male child born
in Box Elder county. Bethia and baby
were later moved into the house of Samantha
Wells McCrary.

The cooking was done out of doors. The
babies were also washed outside, as it was

warmer outside than in. Soap to wash the
bakies was made in a frying pan.
Three houses were built at first. They
were built in 2 line on the north side of the
creek. Claims were laid out for farms and

crops were planted. Some of the corn and .

s-g-rvice berries. John MeCrary's baby
five days old, was the first to die in

wheat were traded to the Indians for driﬁ
il-

lard, this was in August, 1854.

Taken from the life of Bethia Ford-
ham Wells. Sister Wells was one of
the party. .

First School In Willard

Tn the fall of 1852, the first school house
was built in Willard. It was made of logs
obtained from the mountains east of Willard.
Tt was built on the lot now owned by Irvil
Younger. '

In building the schoo! house, ‘they had
what was called “‘a raising,” that is, every-
one gave a helping hand. This log house
had but cne room, which was about 16 by 20
feat. with a large fire place in the south end.
It had a door and two small windows on the
west side. The scarcity of glass made it im-
possible to have more windows. The panes
of glass had to be brought across the plains.

Dwight Harding wanted something better
than a dirt floor, so ke took two of his sons
and another young man and went into the
canyon. He marked with his ax. quaking
asp trees, which were as near the same size
as possible for the boy’s to eut down. Then
they brought the trees down the canyon and
hewed them.

They were fastened to the “sleepers” by
bering small holes through them. Wooden
pegs were fitted into these holes to hold the
slabs into place, then an adze was used - to
ameoth the surface.

Slabs which were hewn by axes were used
for seats. The desks were made by the
plicing of rough slabs, flat side up and fas-
tened to the walls, slanting toward the cen-
ter of the room to meet the uprights, which
were fastened to the fleor. This school-
house was the only place the first settlers
had tor church, school and amusements for
the first few years.

The first teachar, was Henry M. Thatcher,
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He was an emmigrant, just staying here for
the winter. The students numbered twenty.
They were George Harding, Charles Harding,
Tlizabeth Harding, Alma Harding, Emma
Zundel, Sally Hadlock, Emma Hubbard, Otis
Nathaniel Webb, Hulda Wells, Jobn Johnson,
King Johnson, Miss Crandell, two Miss
. Smith's, Timothy Lish, Jonathan Lish,
John Walton, Mary Walton, William Birch
and Jane Birch.

The school was held three months of the
year. Each student had to pay ($3.00)
Yhree dollars for his years education. The
fee was paid mostly in produce or anything
the teacher could use. The teacher had to
collect the fee. The books consisted of an
elementary speller a few readers and some
arithmetic texts. The wriling was done
mostly on slates with slate pencils. The
children ranged in age from eighteen years
to very small children.

(Taken from the history written by

Alice Harding, now deceased.)

The Willow Creek Fort

The fort was made of dirt thrown bhetween .

planks held in place by uprights. The dirt
was thrown in and tramped in solidly.’ The
walls, when finished, were twelve to fourteen
feet high. The cavity formed where the
dirt was taken from, formed a sort of a ditch
at the base. In one place, not far from the
S.W. corner, the ditch was unusually deep
and wide and water filled in making a pond.
Here in this pond for many years, Benjamin
Jones did baptizing. ,

The N.W. corner of the fort, began 17 rods
below Joseph Mason’s lot, extending south
to the S.W. corner of Edward Morgan’s lot.
Then east to the line on the center of the
public square, which would be gixteen rods
above center street on which most of the
houses were built closely together. The
east side of the fort was built of rocks, there
being so many. All of the rock hack of the
meeting house is rock that helped to make
the Old Fort. The north wall took In
Tather Charles W. Hubbard home, Lotlie
Hubbard’s lot being out of the Hmit. The
opening was on the west side about where
Joseph R. Lowe’s lot is now.

(Tuken [rom the history written by

Alice Harding, now deceased.)

The Eche
Canyon War

First Campaign of the New Organization
of the Nauvoo Legion, Willow Creek, Box
Hlder County, Utah.

Taken from the diary of Robert Hendersen.

Tn 1857, the U. 8. Government declared
the Territory of Utah, to be in a state of re-
bellion. The eastern mail was stopped and
arrangements to send out troops to Utah un-
der the command of Brigadier General Har-
ney were completed. General Harney was
relieved of the command and ordered to re-
main in Kansas for the restoration of peace
in that distracted district.

Harney’s successor, ag commander of the
Utah expedition was Coloney Albert Sidney
Johnson, of the Second Cavalry, then sta-
{ioned in Washington. He received his ap-
pointment on the 2nd of August and forth-

with proceeded to Fort Leavenwarth to as-

aume commend. TFrom that point, he set
out for the west, on the 17th of September.

When the news of the attitude of the U. S.
government was received in Utah, a military
organization was formed, under the name of
«“The New Organization of The Nauvoo Le-
gion.” The men of Brigham City were or-
ganized into Company A and the men of
Willow Creek in Company B. All men who
wers ahle to bear arms were on parade twice
a day.

The First Campaign

The evening of October 2, 1857, the
hrethren of Company B of Willow Creek
were notified to be at Perry Springs at 8

P. M. On the 8rd, they joined a companly

which was called to go north to meet the U.S.
Army. It was thonght that the Army in-
tended to enter Utah from Oregon.

Company B jeined Company A at Brigham
City at 4 P. M. At sundown, they took up
their line of march and proceeded up Box
Elder canyon, making camp on the northeast
side of the cahyon.

Alfred Cordon was appointed Major of the
Willow Creek Company, H. E. Plerson, lien-
tenant, John Welker, sergeant, George W.
Ward, chaplain. Robert Hendersen was in
the senjor second ten of the Willow Creek
Company. )

After joining forces at Brigham City with
Company A, My. H. Standish was also ap-
pointed major. Bugles were sounded for
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prayer at night and at morning. A guard
wag placed, each doing in their turn, guard
for two hours, and off duty for four hours.
On the 4th, the company took up their line
of march, climbing over the gsteep hills,

making their way over the mountaine,

They camped at Sardine Springs for one
hour, then continued their march on the
east side of Muddy Creek into Cache Valley
and camped. Here geveral brethren from
Fort Maughan, came ino camp. Just after
breaking camp on the 5th of October they
were overtaken by an Express man from
Brigham, who carried orders for the com-
pany to return to Box FElder Valley and
await further orders.

October 6th, arrived in Brigham at 11 A.M.
and were addressed by the Major of the Dis-
trict. Drilled until evening and then order-
ed to Willow Creek, where we arrived at sun-
down and were dismissed until daylight. On
the Tth drills were attended on the parade
ground, after which the men were dismissed
until 5:30 P.M. Drills from 5:30 until sun-
down, then we were ordered to sleep at the
schoolhouse to be prepared for a call.

‘On the 9th, orders came by Express for

Company B to march to Cache Valley, as the

1.8. soldiers were at Fort Bridger and Fort
Hall Trail. Willow Creek troops gtarted out
under the command of Captain Harmeon Pier-
son and Adjutant Siller. Major Smith stop-
ped them just south of Brigham and selected
15 mounted horsemen to join a company of
cavalry, which had started for Fort Hall.
The remainder of the company marched to
Box Elder Canyon, and joined the Brigham
company, then they traveled to Muddy
Creek in Cache Valley, where camp Was
made.

James Davis, one of the number of scouts
who were out as spies, came into camp at
& P. M. and reported seeing a company of one
hundred horsemen and eleven wagons, on the
shores of Bear Lake. This company travel-
led all night and laid over in the day. He
supposed them to be the enemy, who was
heading for Malad or Fort Hall. This infor-
mation was sent to Brigham and Davis and
three other men returned to watch the en-
emy-

October 10, orders were received from
Brigham for the Box Elder companies to
march to Barnards Fort in Malad Valley,
until further orders were received. So they
marched on the western side of Cache Val-
ley, fording Bear River at the Indian Trail,
camped on the north side of the river. Rob-
ert Hendersen writes in his Journal: “That
they marched all day at the rear of the wag-

ons, and they took their turn as guards for
two hours on duty and four hours of rest
and that they were very tired.”

At 9 P. M. the countersign was given to
the gnards, and no one was to enter or leave
camn withont aiving i, Theoy loft Barnard’s
Fort and travelled in the rain to Malad Val-
ley, a distance of fourteen miles. Here they
received orders to return to Brigham, as the
company seen by Davis, proved to be a Mor-
mon company, in command of Roclewell, Bur-
ton and Tyler. They arrived in Brigham on
the 13th and went home, meeting only in the
evenings to answer roll call.

On the 20th, an Bxpress arrived with this
information: That the U.S. troops were
moving toward the north. Fifty men from
the Willow Creek company were called at -
9 AM. and arrived in Brigham at 12 noon.
The next day, Colonel West arrived with his
men. The Box Elder company joined Col.
West’s under the command of Adjutant
Henry Standish, acting as major. The regi-
ment now consists of 530 men and 34 baggage
wagons. There was a brass band and a mar-
tial band which furnished music in the eve-
nings and also made the duty calls.

They marched into Cache Valley and at
dusk camped on Muddy Creek. This morn-
ing, the morning of the 21st, Col. West ad-
dressed on the necessity of being prompt in
point of their duty.

Several officers were appointed. Robert
Hendersen was lieutenant of 2nd platoon of
Harmon D. Pierson’s company and William
Norton, sergeant. Among the men were
Warren Drake, Alma Harding, Sclomon War-
ner Jr., Isaac Zundel, R. Broadhead, C. Chris-
tensen, M. Yearsley and others. Among the
teamsters were: Ira Parks and John Welker.
That day they travelled on the east of Cache
Valley, passing the Chureh Farm and Herd-

-ing Ground, making 2 march of fourteen
.miles.

On the 28rd, they met an express, who
said “That the U. 8. army had returned to
their former camp ground at Ham's Fork”
and camped on Bear River at dark. The
next morning was very stormy. Col. West

. gave them some instructions. They forded

Bear River. The men wading the river, the
bottom covered with cobble rocks. They
then travelled north and camped at Swan
Lake, then crossed over the west of Marsh
Valley on the 26th, Here they remained for
three days awaiting orders. Scouts were

" gent east and o n.mber or sici men were

sent home. :
On the 27th, orders came by Express for

'this ecompany to make a forced march to
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Echo Canyon. They traveled southwest
down through Deep Creek, entered Malad
Valley, in the Oregon Territory, at dark and
camped on Hendersen Creek., Then next day,
they passed the Malad Valley settlements,
forded the Bear River at middle ford and
went six miles further to Empey’s farm.
The first day of November they returned to
Brigham and received order by Express to g0
to there homes, but be ready at a moment’s

notice. .

November 10 Major Cordon received an
order from Col. West at Ogden, for all the eén-
listed men to march to Echo Canyon. At 12
P. M., in command of Major B. Smith, the
forces of the Box Elder District with some
cavalry, Company & and B infantry started
for Echo Canyon. Robert Hendersen was
now lieutenant of the 3rd Platoon of Co. B,
Thomas W. Brewerton, sergeant. AmONg
the men were W. D. Narton, Erasius Wells,
Peter Greenhalgh, Robert Broadhead and
others with John Welker as teamsters.
Most of the men camped at North Ogden and
in the schoolhouse. It was a cold wintry

night. Next morning, the men marched into

Ogden and found some of the wagons in the
tithing yard. They went to the hall and
while they waited for the yemainder of the
wagons, Brother Childs, warden of the hall,
entertained them with popular airs on the
Welsh harp. At 10 A. M. the next day, the
11th of November, the rest of the battalion
arrived and they marched through Qgden

 and up the canyon for six miles.

November 12, we crossed the river fifteen
times and camped three miles from Echo
Canyon. The snow was Very deep and we
shoveled it away to make our beds. Went
to Echo Canyon, on the 14th. The group of

men here are the Fourth Battalion of the

Fifth Regiment, known as West's Command.

November 15, we are ali puilding Wickee-

ups. Several companies arrived from Salt
Lake City. They are new completed. We
have a fire in the center of each, with smoke
passing out of the top. Warm and eomfort-
able. ‘
‘We have built hreastworks commanding
the canyon road and dammed the creek so we
can flood the road and eut willows, that we
might get a view of the enemy. George
Mason arrived with a load of provisiens from
Willow Creek. On the 22nd, camp was mov-
ed below the battalion.

November 25. Today Rrothers John Tay-
lor and Franklin D. Richards addressed us.

November 28th. A 70-L. liberty pole wasd
erected in the center of our regiment square.

At 8 A, M. an Express arrived with a Procla-
mation from Mr. Cummings calling all armed
men to return home.

November 29th. This day being Sunday,
meeting was held in camp and Elders Taylor
and Richards addressed us. On Wednesday
we started down the canyon, camped on the
Weber River and were addressed by General
Ferguson and General Wells. They blessed
the men in the name of the Lord. Next day,
during our march, we listened to some inter-
esting remarks from Colonel Wells. We ar-
rived in Willow Creek on Friday, December
fl,d185d7 and were dismissed, all very happy
indeed.

Fxpress Brought To Willard

Tn 1858, Willow Creek sent men to help
build stations from Utah to the Missouri Riv-
er in the interest of the Y. X. Company, or
the Brigham Young Express Carrying Com-
pany. Among these were George Mason,
Solomon Warner, Owen Owens, Lyman Wells
and Omer Call. They also put up hay at dif-
ferent places along the way. :

Before the coming of the railroad, early in
the sixties, the Latter Day Qaints church
gent men and teams with provisions back
to the Missouri River to bring the emigrants
across the plains. Willow Creek did her
share of this work. Robert Henderson, in
his record, says that Willard sent two hun-
dred wagons after the poor. In the spring
of 1861, John L. Edwards made two trips;
John Taylor, George Ward, Ludrick Reece,
Qolomon Warner and Edwin Morgan went in
1862. George Harding was their captain.
In 1866 Edwin Cordon, William Cole, John
Pettingill, Thomas S. Woodland, William
Pierson, Richard T. Ward, Joseph Merrill,
John Dowdle, William Beecher, Harry Grif-
fiths and Joseph Dudley made the trip.
There may have been others whose names
have left the memory of those who have
furnished this information. These men de-
gerve credit because they gave their time
and _helped furnish their - own teams and
provisions. The different settlements help-
ed to provide for the men who were sent
from this locality.

Mathew W. Dalton of Willow Creek built
a sailboat designed to carry freight. It was
constructed with paddle wheels on the side
and had a cabin which ‘would accommodate
several passengers. Orson Wells, Gordon
Nicholas sailed boats on the lake.
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-' Trandporialion and @ammmca&on

From 1847 to 1858, Utah had no means of
communication with points.east or west ex-
cept as messages were sent by and received
from travelers going to and from California
and the Missouri River.

Try to picture the guiet desolation of a
country in which there was.no moving thing
except a few milk cows and here and there
gheep grazing in the vast open, or occasional-
ly one of -three or four neighbors driving a
crude wagon drawn by oxen. Then try to
imagine the excitement created by the pass-
ing of a train of pack mules goaded on by
weary, dusty attendants who were enroute to
some distant place farther west, or by . the
emigrant train which made camp near a set-

tle'ment. ‘

How‘.eagerly every man, woman and child
gathered around the camp fires to hear the

news of what was going on in the world out- -
gide east of Missouri; What joy if some .

traveler actually came from near one set-
tler’'s home town; No airplanes, automobiles,
street cars; streamliners, motorcycles, or
evenr bicycles existed to make either trans-
portation or communication with the outside
world easy, sure, or regular.

In July, 1850, Samuel H. Woodsen of Inde-
pendence, Missouri, contracted the govern-
meént postal service to carry the mail once a
month between Independence and Salt Lake
City. All Utah mail was left at Salt Lake
post office and distributed from there, at
first, by people from the smaller settiements
who chanced to go to Salt Lake and called
at the office for -all mail belonging in their
locality. Later individuals were hired to
carry the mail at regular intervals. Janu-
ary 20, 1853, a post office was established
at " Box Elder, Weber County, with
Salmon Warner as postmaster. The
name of this office was changed to Willard
in Box Elder county, April 5, 1859, while
Thomas R. Hawking was postmaster.

Wilfard received her mail direet from
Washington after the Holoday Stage Lines
were established.

June 15, 1905, a second route was estab-
lished from the Brigham office serving
people of Peiry and the outlying districts

north and south of Willard. to the southern -

extreamity of the county.

The Coming Of The Raiquads

For many years leading men.in all walks
of life had been agitating the question of &
trangeontinental railraad, By an act of
Congress signed July 1, 1862, the Union Pa-
cific Railroad Company was organized and
authorized to begin the construction of a
rcad extending west of the Mississippi Riv-
er. On December 2, 1863, pground was

broken for that purpose at Omaha.

The Central Pacific Railroad Company of
California. was authorized to build the road
east from Sacramento. Ogden was chosen
as the meeting point of the two roads.

The Union Paeific reached Ogden during
the winter of 1868-69 and pushed on to a,
point in Western Box Elder where they met
the Central Pacific construction gang.

The Central Pacific laid plans at once to
parallel the Union Pacific- road into.Ogden.
Ogden became the terminal for both reads.

Upon the 10th of May, 1869, the rival
roads approached each other at Promontory,
Utah, and two lengths of rails were left for
the day’s work.: : T

The Early Day Railroad

Companies Of Utah

The Utah Northern Railroad Company was
incorporated under the general laws of the
territory. of Utah, February 19, 1869, just
three months before the f{ranscontinental
lines, reached Promontory Summit, at this
time the Mason Pacific and Central Pacific
Companies furnished railroad facilities, fo
Ogden, Willard, Three Mile Creek -and Co- .
rinne. ~ The first work of the Utah Northern
Company was to build a road from Ogden to
Salt Lake City, known as the Utah Central:
Railroad. Awugust 26, 1871, land was broken
at Three Mile Creek for the beginning of the
Utah Northern Railroad which was extenned
from that point through Brigham City, on-
north to Collinston, where it would turn east
and cross the hill over into Mendon,  Cache
County, pass through Logan, then north fo
Franklin, Idaho, then east to Soda Springs.
August 26th was a gala day at three Mile
Creek. A vast throng assembled in thes
fields just south of tlie settlement. John D.J
Peters and George Reeder, Sr. furnished
Leams, and Mr. Reeder, who was recognized
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as the man who could plow the straightest
furrow, held the plow and broke the sod,
amid the cheering of the crowd and the mu-
sic of the bands from Willard and Brigham
City. President Brigham Young and James
Campbel], president of the Utah division of
the Central Pacific Railroad Company were
in attendance, and both addressed the as-

sembly.

The work of surveying and securing the
right of way was commenced at once. Jo-
seph A. West and James Martineau survey-
ed the line. The first rails connecting the
Utah Northern with the Central Pacific
were laid March 29, 1872.

I+ started from Ogden. From Utah Hot
Springs it came north and on the west side
of Cold Springs, then directly north in the
ficlds to a certain point and came onto the
highway. This point was between the resi-
dence of John Whitaker and Mary L. Lee's
home, just about where the “old wash” is.
Now the John Whitaker home iz torn down
and Orvin Lemons own the property.

After it entered on the highway, the rail-
road ran between the wagon road and the
west fence line. It continued north running
parallel with the wagon road until it reached
a point between A. B. Taylor's residence and
Israel Larkins. Then it followed a line in a
northwesterly direction and entering the Jow-
er street on the south, thence went north
through the middle of the street.

The hand-car house was on the west side
of the railroad before entering the lower
street. The section men who worked on the
railroad were Robert B. Baird, Nephi Brun-
ker, Evan Stephens, 3. N. Cook, Wm. Owens,
H. T. B. Grey, Harvey Woodyatt, Elijah Cab-
ble, Wm. Renshaw. There might be more,
but these as I remember them.

The railroad was completed to Brigham
March 1, 1872. On May 1, 1872, the Sunday
schools of Brigham City had a May Day ex-
cursion to Three Mile Creek, now Perry. Al-
though the distance was only three miles, it
was their first ride on a steam railroad train.
They held their celebration on the William
Horsleys farm. This farm ig located down
where the Perry cannery is located mow.

In 1874, February 5, Andrew Christensen
reported to the Degeret News an account of
the celebration held at Sputh Willard. He
designates the spot as near the Marsh Farm.
Oid residents say it was mnear the brick
school houge in South Willard. The cele-
bration was held because the Utah Northern
Railroad was completed between Ogden and
Brigham. The exercises began at 3:30 p.

m. under the direction, of Chester Loveland,
Mayor of Brigham City. Christensen’s
brass band furnished the musie.

The last spike, which had heen made by
John D. Reese, was driven in place by
Judge Samuel Smith. Other spikes were..
driven by Judge Far of Ogden, Bishop Alvin:
Nichols of Brigham City, and Bishop George’
M. Ward of Willard. These men had been
the contractors under whose direction the
road had been built. Bishop George Pitkin
of Cache County addressed the assembly
and said- “The Cache Valley people il
soon push the road to Franklin.” Between
four and five hundred people were present.
- There were many short lines built by dif-
ferent railroad companies to connect the .
Union Pacific with important art points in
the western states and are at present a part
of the Union Pacific System.

The Lucin Cut-Off extends across Great
3alt Lake from Ogden, Weber County, to Lu-
cin in Western Box Elder County, is the only
railroad in the world where you can ride en-
tirely over water. The cut-off is as straight
a5 the crow flies and is more nearly level
than an ordinary floor for thirty-six miles.
There is no grade. Nowhere is the grade
over five inches to the hundred feet. It was
built by the Southern Pacific Railroad com-
pany in the period, from June, 1902 to No-
vember 13, 1903, to save the greater grades
and curves and distance of the old line which
rung around the north end of the lake.

This great bridge across the lake is a solid
path except for 12 miles which are on &
iressle. To make this, every fifteen feet five
piles are driven in a Yow crosswise to the
frack. They are fastened together on their
sides with heavy timbers, four jnches and
eight inches thick across their tops and
joining them together and is a heavy beam
eighteen feet long and a foot square.

et BEREE | Rl
Section hands working on Utah Northern narrow gauge
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Sfreet Cars 'Ahd”_ The UILC.
Railroad Company _

'On Auguét 13, 1904, B. Mahler Waé g';rani:-‘
ed a franchise to build and operate.a street.

car system in Brigham City. .- -

In 1907 the Ogden “and. Northwestern

Railroad Company built an electric _line. he-
tween Ogden and.the Hot Springs. In - Box
Elder County. =~ .= .~ _—

Tn.1910, March 10, this conipany extended
the electric line . from . the Hot =~ Springs
through Brigham City,. following the state
highway and going through the main Thigh-

way. Thomas Slater was thotorman..

In May 1914, the Og&én' Rapid ‘Transit
company which operated an Ogden. ¢ity line;

as well ‘as the inter-urban line from Ogden
through Brigham City line  consolidated

with the Logan Rapid Transit = compaiy

which operated in Cache county. .

This new corporation was known as Ogden,
Logan and Idaho Railroad company. They
rebuilt the line between Hot Springs and
Brigham, moving the route farther west and
extending the tracks over the Collinston hill
to cofinect with lane in Cache Valley.

In 1919, a new Corporation was formed to
operate the Ogden City street car system,
and the old company changed: its name to
the' Utah-Idaho Central® Railrdad - company,
a Utah corporation. In 1926, a . new, com-
pany—a Delaware corpiration—took .over
the management of the Utah-Idaho Railroad
company and contintied until 1946.

1851-1951

The Deseret Telegraph

On .October 24, 1861, the first telegraph
lihe connecting the eastern and western
seaboards was completed to Salt Lake City.
Almost immediately thereafter the Deseret
Telegraph Company was organized to build
a line -from Paris, Idaho, to St. George,
Utzh. ’

The residents of Brigham City will no
doubt remember the very efficient service
rendered by Eli Pierce and Ephriam W.
Dermn, local telegraph operators,

- An office of the Deseret Telegraph was
established 'at Willard in 1867, with George
Mears as operator. The office was closed
in apbout 1870 when the transcontinental
line. supplanted the local line, Sarah Nichols,
daughter of Bishop Alvin Nicholas, served
for a time as a telegraph operator. :

The Rocky Mountain Bell
Telephone Company
The first telephone exchange in the coun-
ty was established in the Eddy Drug store.in
Brigham City in about 1900. Wynn L. Eddy
was exchange manager and Rena Baird
operator. In 1900 the company had twenty-
five subscrbers. , :
- About 1905 or 1906, a building in Willard,
vwhere Butler’s garage now stands, was used
as a telephone office and every family had a
telephone. ~ Josephine Taylor was the fele-
phone operator until about 1910, when it
was moved to Brigham.

Freighting

Before the coming of the railroads in 1869,
supplies of all kinds were hauled .by team
from..the northernmost points in the state,
to ‘mining and trading posts. in Idaho and
Montana. Robert Baxter of Wellsville said
in the Logan Journal of December 20, 1924; -
We made the trip from Ogden to Deer Lodge,
Montana, a distance of 900 miles, and back
to Wellsville in seventeen days. It was the

fastest time ever made with ox team. This

was in 1870. , ) o
Mathew W. Dalton of Willow. Creek built
a sailboat designed to carry freight. It
was constructed with paddle wheels. on the
side and had a cabin which woud accommo-
date several passengers. C
For thirty six years or more, James Shef-
field hauled freight by team between Brig-
ham City and Ogden, making three trips a
week, [He carried furm producs to Ogden
a;l’d returned with merchandise for local
stores. o .
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e Fime Mosnd Dueller Metropolis

Willard is a small farming community.
It occupies a RArrow Bonneville Lake ter-
race that stretches along the eastern shore
of Bear River bay. In springtime, flower-
ing orchards and rows of stately shade trees
and an atmosphere of quiet and contentment
entirely unknown in ancient times when only
wllows bordered a few gmall rills meander-
ing down from the mountain springs.

Less than a mile west of the willage
where the arable bench land dips down to
the Great Salt Lake, a number of low mounds
mark the site of a primitive Indian settle-
ment that dates from remote antiquity. The
fields on which these mounds lie had been
cnltivated for many years, but in 1915 they
were used mostly for pasture.

Neil M. Judd and Don Maguire of Ogden
pecame interested in the mounds located on
the property of George Harding and John L.
Edwards. Both of these men gave their
generous permission to excavate for pottery
and other items of interest.

The ruins of this ancient city consisted of
95 recoghnizable mounds. Mr. Maguire open-
ed seven of these and in doing so unearthed
15 skeletons, a considerable quantity of
broken pottery, a guantity of stone work
such as lance heads, arrow heads, a number
of handmade Indian mills of superior work-
manship and size (made of granite with
grinding hand stones to fit the hollow in the
mill).

Remains Of Home Life

On the floors of the rooms opened he
found in a charred condition some beans,
corn, corn cobs and cloth fiber. One of the
mounds stood near the brow of the old lake
terrace. It was approximately 40 feet in
diameter and its summit was about three feet
above the surface of the surrounding field.

In beginning the excavations, a trench
two weet wide was dug through the black
surface soil to the undisturbed clay beneath.
From this a second trench advanced east-
wardly. One day the diggers quit work for
the day and two of the youths of the town,
George Harding and Benjamin Call, added a
little excitement to the proceedings. One of
the boys took off one of his shoes and placed
a dilapidated buffalo horn in it. Then he
buried the shoe in the trench covering it
well with soil. When the men came to work
the following day, the buffalo horn was dis-
covered. The men were greatly excited untit
they dug up the shoe. The boys were pres-

ent to join in the fun caused by their joke.

The floors of the mounds were earthen and
well defined, hard and smothered and black-
ened through use. On them were pieces of
logs, willows and grass.

So, while many towns in Utah may lay
claim to being the “oldest,” basing their
claims on early explorers’ or trappers’ camps,
the citizens of Willard have tangible proof
that here was a real “town’” many centuries
ago.

Indian Visitors

The Indians ranging in this area belonged
to the Shoshone tribe. This tribe was kept
in the intermountain region by their warlike
neighbors, the Blackfeet and the Cheyennes.
Lack of game made them poor and they had
to resort to a low standard of living. The
L.D.S. church established a colony of them
near Malad, Jdaho, and called the place
Washakie. IHere they tried to teach them
th'e arts of agriculture and stock raising
with a view of making them self supporting.

Every autumn the Indians would come.

here, camping on vacant lots of land and get
all the fruit people would give them which
they would dry and keep for winter use.
Old settlers tell that sometimes they would
set up their tepees in sheltered coves near
the mountains and spend the winters, the
women sewing buckskin clothing for them-
selves and to sell. It was hard to teach the
men to work as white people did. They
much preferred their old nomadic life. Ap-
parently we never suffered much depreda-
tions from them.

Children of James Hensen in front of the Owen Owens homs




Lanly Industries of Willard

Ag the oak-brush, sage and chokecherry
covered land at Willow Creek, which is now
Willard, became inhabited by the pioneers,
it was found necessary to set up industries
for the benefit of the settlers. :

The people were guided by the ecclesiatsi-
cal authorities as they set up industries in
the community. These leaders realized the
importance of the temporal salvation of the
people as well as their spiritual guidance,
therefore much time was devoted to careful
plans for every line of endeavor.

As the people were greatly in need of the
necessities for the sustenance of life, food,
clothing and shelter, great effort was put
forth to clear and break up the ground for
crops and geout  into- the canyon for wild
game and prospects for timber.

" Farming in 1851 was done with a meagre
supply of crude to0ls mostly hand-powered.
The land was plowed with home-made plows
drawn by oxen and harrowed with harrows
made of timber and scrap iron. Grain and
wild hay were cut with a cradle and raked
with a wooden hand-rake and the grain was
tied with grain-stalks. Grain was threshed
with a flail, then separated from the chaff

- by being held high and poured to the ground

where a large strong cloth had been spread to
catch the grain, the wind blowing the chaff
away as it fell. :

Then in 1856 John Bankhead, a resident
of Willard, became the owner of a cylinder
threshing-machine which separated the
wheat from the chaff. He had been a slave
owner in the south and had prought with
him two negro slaves, who followed behind
the thresher with a fanning mill which clean-
ed the wheat. Henry Busenbark was the
first to own a horse-power machine which
had a real separator.

Wild hay was cut and used for feeding
animals through the winter. In 1864 George
Harding brought the Tirst mowing-machine
and reaper from California. Some .of
the early crops raised were: whesat, corn,
buckwheat, oats, wild hay, flax, barley and
sugar-cane, In 1875 alfalfa- was tried and
found to be successful and in great-demand
not only for livestock but poultry and hog
raising as well. Much of it is dried well
then ground and added to mixed feeds for the
livestock. S '

Residents of the town who chose farming
ag their chief occupation were: George
Mason, Peter Nebeker, Jacob Zundel, John

N. Barker, Charles W. Hubbard, George
Facer, Alfred Cordon, Joseph  Nichols,
John Lowe, Amos Warner, Stephen White,
‘Wm. Parscns, Byron Barker, John Wood-

—an Whitalran Totlhnw W Dalton
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and George Cook and Benjamin Taylor. .
The first flour mill in Box Elder county
was erected at Willard in 1851-52 by Elisha
Mallory who employed T. W. Brewerton as
miller. With a favorable stream of water
coming from the canyon and flowing in a
northwesterly direction, where the flow was
increased by numerous. springs in that part
of town, it proved to be.a good site for a
mill with ample water power to, turn - the
wheels of the machinery.- S -
This mill was of simple - construetion.
The grinding stoneg were not hard enough
rock and became Wworn and needed frequent
attention. . : R
Tomer and Omer Call purchased it from
Mr. Mallory and at the reguest of Brigham
Young they put valnable improvements  on
the mill to the extent that they went : to
California and - purchased two large flint
stones, one for the upper and one for the
neither, weighing 500 lbs. each. The Call
brothers.hauled them by ox team from Cali-
fornia. They also installed silk reeels in the
mill to refine the flour, Brigham Young
also requested them to prepare. to make ce-
reals and. box them. So they increased-the
capacity of the mill to take care of rolling
oats and buckwheat and other grain and
putting them in pasteboard boxes of 3 Ib. and
5 1b. They were the firet millers .in  the
county to do this work. N '
Attorney B. C. Call of Brigham City now
has the first mill stone and also the {flint
gtones brought from California by his father

24

Threshing scene in the early days
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and uncle. A part of the old rock building
still stands in 1851 & hundred years after-
ward.

Refore the mill was built Alex Perry rals-
ed a special type of hulless oats, the seed of
which he procured from China. From these
he made rolled oals with his own heavy roll-
ers.
Qugar was very scarce. Tt had to be haul-
ed across the plains. So people raised Sor-
gum to take the place of it. At different
intervals molasses mills were erected.

James M. Dalton, son of M. W. Dalton
erected a molasses mill near the mouth o
Willard canyoh. J osiah Wood erected one at
the north end of town on the hill now
¥nown as Hargis Hill. The Call brothers
had & molasses mill in the field. In 1862
George Harding ST. brought some metal rol-
lers from Omaha, Neb., that did a better job
o! extracting juice from the cane. James
Whitaker bought the Dalton mill and moved
it four miles south to fhe Cold Springs
where he operated it by water power from
the springs. John P. Wood, George Mason,
George Facer, Alex Perry, Wm. Parsous

and Charles Harding all operated molasses

mills at Willard.
At molasses-making time the pioneer

children took buckets to the different mills
and obtained the skimmings for candy malk-
ing. Each family had a certain amount of
ghares in the molasses, depending on the
size of the sugar-cane crop raised. A certaln
time was arranged for each family to go to
the mill with their crop and get molasses
made. At such times 100 gallon barrels and
large crock jars were taken to the mill, the
barrels heing filled with molasses, the jars
with preserves made from wild plums cooked
in molasses. Later peach preserves were
made the same way.

Wild plums were ready before molasses
time 50 the pioneer mothers made a solution
of baking soda and hoiling water and poured
it over the jars of plums and left them until
they could he made into preserves.

Practically every family owned a few
gheep, a few cattle, some cows, a few chick-
ens and a pig or twa. From these the daily
supply of milk, butter, eggs and meat was
drawn. Usually in the fall a pig or beef
was slanghtered and the meat put in salt
brine and cured then smoked, thus taking
care of the years supply of meat. ‘The trim-
mings of fat were used in making soap.
Bethia Wells made a great deal of soap and
taught other wome:n how. It is interesting

to note how vesourceful the pioneers were.
They had no lye but they poured water over
wood ashes that had been put in a hox and
the liquid that drained off was lye. Ii was
mixed with the melted fat and when the mix-
ture began to thicken it was poured into a box
to set over night. The next day it was
ready to cut into bars to be stored for use.

Cheese for each family was obtained by -
leasing cows for a season which was about
four months fo dairymen in the business of
making cheese and butter. In return they
raceived a large round cheese and about
50 lbs. of hutter in weight which was gener-
ally buried in the loose wheat in the wheat
bin to preserve it after cutting off a piece
for use.

Robart Henderson spent 30 years ‘of ac-
tive dairying, maintaining an average herd
of 130 cows. M. Henderson's chject was
to furnish employment for the young people.
He operated dairies at Paradise and Promon-
tery. Many people sent their cows to him
to pay for cheese. ‘

In the winter large blecks of jce were cut
and stored in sawdust in ice sheds to be sold
in gimmer months for preserving food; es-
pecially dairy products and also for freezing
ice cream. Orris Wells and later Reuben

John P. Woods Molasses mill in canyon




1

WILLARD CENTEN

Nebeker sold ice.
Most of the fruit the early settlers weye

able to procure, they dried. The Indians
taught them how to care for service-berries,
haw-berries and choke-cherries.

The land was favorable for orchards.
Some of the winters were very cold how-
ever, and trees that were planted away from
the protection of the mountains suffered.

In 1856 Matthew W. Dalton set out the
first orchard. It contained such varieties as
apples, plums, apricots, peaches, cherries,
pears and raspberries, gooseberries and cur-
rants. George W, Ward set out an orchard
at practically the same time. Others ob-
served the success of the enterprise and Like-
wise planted orchards until the town was full
of them.

In Jater years canneries were built to can
the fresh fruit and ship it to market. When
the rajlroads were finished the shipping in-
dustry to outer markets developed rapidly.
Fresh fruit was packed in boxes and shipped.
To insure greater succesd men cooperated
and formed companies. Large packing
houses were constructed near the railroad in
the west side of town where the fruit was

. hauled, sorted and packed for shipment.

Many people were employed in the packing
houses and cannery. The fruit industry has
become established and is here to stay.

The very earliest settlers lived in their
wagons until they could get thelr crops in
and go to the mountains for timber. They
hunted and snaked out all the dry timber
for the first buildings.

Tn 1857 Barnard Cole built an upright
sawmill at the mouth of Willard canyon.
He employed Elihu Pettingill as operator.
Tn 1862 Ransom A. Beecher and. Benjamiv
Taylor built a sawmill on the creek just west
of the mouth of the canyon. Mr. Beecher
was operator. The mill was in operation

two years.

In 1872, Matthew W. Dalton went east for -
two sawmills of the turbine type with 26

horse-power capacity. He sold one of the
mills in Cache Valley and kept the other one
for his own use. He built a sawmill up in
Willard canyon in the left-hand fcrk near
the large spring. He employed Denmark
Jensen to operate it. Later his son James
operated the mill. James empleyed Dwight
Harding and some Welchmen to handle the
logging.

Recause of the steep slopes in the canyon,
they brought the logs down on two wheels of
the running-gear, letting the end of the lezgs
drag to act as brakes. Although the Dallens

NIAL 1851-1951

had both oxen and horses, they preferred
oxen because the oxen were more steady and
less apt to get frightened in the canyon.’
Heber Hubbard and Peter Lowe also did log-
ging in the canyon.

_ One day Heber took Willard Hubbard, his
half-brother, a lad of 12 years of age, with
him to log. Willard went down to the apring
to get a drink. While he sat resting before
climbing back up the steep slope, Heber
came tumbling down the hill and landed
with his head in the water and bleeding.
Willard surprised, hurriedly tussled and
moved his head out of the water and then .
ran across to the other slope and called the
men logging there to help. They took him
down to his home, but he never regained
consciousness and soon died. It was never
known what caused him to fall.

Wagons, machinery, implements and tools
all had to be made and kept in repair. Oxen
and horses had to be shod. Blacksmith
shops in those days were as necessary as
garages are today. .

Shadrach Jones was a very apt stone mas-
on. He built a great many of the stone
houses erected. Ha later was called to Lo-
ean to help build the Logan L.D.S. Temple.
Lyman B. Wells also was a stone mason and
helped build many houses here.

Dwight Harding was Willard's first car-
penter. In 1857 he made cupboards, churns,
tubs and washboards. Charles Woods made
caskets and operated a shingle mill at the
mouth of the canyon.. Byron Barker heip-
ed build the first hridges over Ogden and
Weber rivers. He helped build Willard's
own relief society house. He was a finish-
ed cabinet maker. John M. McCrary made
rhairs with seats made of bullrushes. Ly-
man Wells gathered the rushes from the
meadows and lake shore. :

Before nails were made, hardwood pegs of
different sizes were used for that purpose.
The barn on the Joseph Mason property has
timbers in it set together with pegs. When
nails were made Barnard Cole and Wilbur
Walker carried on the work. ‘

The clay formation of the soil near the
lake-shore made it possible for people to
male adobe and brick for homes and public
buildings. They were made west of the town
on what is known asg the “mounds.” Two
different brick yards were built, but not at
the same time. One was located north of
the other. The brick used in building the
achool house were taken from the north
yard. The town is dotted with homes built
with bhrick and adobe from these yards.
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s of one was Jas. M. Dalton and

'The owner
d Wm. Renshaw operated

Nephi Brunker an
the other. )
Mining among the garly pioneers was of
little coneern. The wise counsel given to
them by President Young to the effect that
at that time the establishment of permanent
homes, schools, etc., :
gold, prevailed and only a few Utahn's
sought the “land of Eldorado.” Thus the
people’s minds were centered on the problem
of finding a locality where they might es-
tablish a commonwealth and inculeate into
their lives the principles taught by their
religion. _

Ag permanent settlements became well es-
tablished, some of the people began to turn
their attention to gmall scale mining.

George Harding and John Barker, in com-
pany with Simon Bamburger of_ Qalt Lake
City had an iron mine located in the moun-
tains north of the town. The iron ore was
considered good but found in such small
quantities that it was insufficient to mgke
mining pay. George Facer hauled the tim-
ber to the mine that was used in its con-
struction. It goes by the name of “Fisher’s
Mine.”

The American Mine, located at the top of
the mountain north of the left hand fork,
was worked for several years. Different
men have worked it, one of whom was Mat-
thew Madsen.

The Don McQuire mine located in the
mountains 2% miles south of Willard has
probably been the most extensively operated
of all the mines in the Willard area. It con-
tained a large tramway to handle the ore.
Qilver and lead were extracted from this
mine. Years ago a large uilding was erec-
ted at the mouth of McQures Canyon to be
nsed as a bunk-house to accommodate the
miners. The last 25 years it has not been
worked except for working out assessments.

The pioneer women, like their husbands,
seemed endowed with endless ambition.
never idle.

Their fingers and minds were
As soon as possible they set up industries in
the home. '

In the spring the sheep were sheared, the
wool washed and freed from sticks and burrs,
then combed or carded into rolls % inch wide
and 8 to 10 inches long. From these rolls
woolen thread was spun to be woven into
cloth for clothing. The thread however was
dyed before it was woven. :

When they left their eastern homes, tuck-
ed away in the valuable luggage they broughl
were such things as logwood, copperas, indi-

was of more value than .

1851-1951

go and madder. With theze they mixed na-
five leaves and barks to make the desired
shades. Logwood and madder-black made
red. Green was made by dipping yarn sever-
4] times into indigo then into a solution made
of peach leaves and allum. To make plain
yellow the peach leaves and allum solution
was used. They experimented and found
other colors also. '

Everything used in the home in the way
of linens, bedding and clothes were made
right in the home. The season was not long
enough for cotton to be raised, but {lax was
successfully raised.

There were in every community a few who
made a specialty of weaving. Robert Dock
Qr. a Scotchman who had learned the trade
in his native land, did a great deal of weav-
ing of fine cloth for Willard and nearby
communities. Mrs. Sylvia Beecher and
Sophia Hubbard made bedspreads and car-
pets. Mrs. Harriet Warner Henderson, who
was noted in those days for her ability to
obtain beautiful colors in many shades and
tints, spun a great deal of flax into thread to
be woven. She also had learned the tailor-
ing trade and owned the first ‘sewing ma-
chine brought into this section. Hannah
Burrows Cook also was one of the early
owners of a sewing machine, She likewise
was an excellent seamstress having learned
the trade in England. Her sewing machine
was procured in the early 60’s. She special-
ized in men’s dress shirts, although she sew-
ed other articles of clothing and linen as
well. The story is told how Hannah sold ali
of her beautifu) dresses she had brought from
England, except her wedding dress, to pre-
cure food for her family.

Sophia Hubbard also made men’s suits and
clothes. dJoseph Renshaw was Willard's first
tailor. N

In 1866 Mary Cook helped her mother sew.
Marion Perry Dalton became a fine milliner
and braided straw for ladies hats and made
them up and sold them. Barley straw was
the type used for hats.

In 1876 President Brigham Young organiz-
ed a State Sera Culture Organization and as-
signed the work to the L.D.3. Relief Societ-
jes. Mrs. Zina D. Young, who was the gen-
eral president of the Relief Society, became
the state chairman. For Box Elder Harriet
Squires Snow had general supervision. Mary
‘Ann Bosworth Hubbard was responsible for
the industry to get under way at Willard in-
is much us she was Lelief Svelety president

ere.
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President Young sent to France for cacoons
and instructions for raising - silk- worms,
Tach ward sent a representative to he State
Capitol for training. Brigham City sent a
representative to Salt Lake City to learn the
reeling of silk also. She in turn taught one
e Fasaemn Analh werawd Thaver e An Flen wernaals
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It took about two years to- léarn the trade.

‘Tn as much as the worms fed upon mulberry
‘leaves the people at home set mulberry trees

into orchards.

= A cooperaton known 'as the “Willard Co-

operative Sera Culture Society™ was organiz-
ed and sold shares at $5.00 each. The silk
industry flourished. : '

Margaret A. Caine, secretary of the com-

mission came here and got a elags started.
Those in her class were: Maria Zundel,

:Mary L. Harding, Florence Zundel, Priscilla
‘Wells, Lucina Warner and Esther Warner.

Mary Jones Harding and daughters Mary
L., Olive, Sarah Pheobe and Alice, Abigail
zundel and daughters Maria and Sarah, Betsy
Zundel ‘and - daughter Florence and Sally
Wells and daughter Priscilla all raised- silk
worms: Some of the <daughters doing- a
creat deal of reeling. They had crude reels

ot first but later were able. to obtain - the
regular Japanese reels thus making a much
finer and more even weave in the cloth.

In 1900 the State Legislature regealed the
law providing for the silk commission and
the industry gradually disappeared. =~ ~

Other Settlors OF 1851

In September of the same year (1851),

Dwight Harding and Ben Johnson “with
their familiés came and tock up farms.
Mrs. Johnson was a great help to the colony,
25 she had been: set apart by Joseph Smith
a8 a nurse to help the people in Nauvoo.
In Willard, she continued in that calling
until her death several years later. With
the addition of these two families, the colony
had six men, seven women, & few young girls
and boys and also several small children.

Co-Op Store

Before the co-op store was organized Rob-
ert Hendersen cperated a small store in a
part of his home, on the - corner of First
North and Main street. :

A co-op store wag organized September 7,

1836, and the first directors were Alexander
Perry, president; John Cole, vice president;
Thomas Brewerton, secretary; Geoige
Harding, treasurer; Robert Dock, director,
and Elihu Pettingill, director. The eapital
stock was $40,000 and most of the citizens

arihaawihnd Far akaaly in tha aneamoeer
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At the first election, the following officers
were elected: George Harding, president;
John P. Wood, vice president; Alfred Ward,
secretary and Ropert Dock, treasurer.

This store was operated until in the early
nineties, when it burned down. This. two-

_story rock building was located on the corner

immediately north of Lewis Harding’s
(Charles Harding) residence and was man-
aged by Charles Harding., After the fire,
the top story was torn down and the lower
story carried om as a store operated by
Charles Harding and Robert Dock. '

Later on, a new store was built by Joseph
Harding and Robert Dock on Main street,
between the old tithing yard and George
Cook’s (Haun's) lot. The first floor was
used ag a store and the upper part as an
amusement hall. This building burned later
on and was converted into a cne story ware-
houge. '

Soon after the second store burned, a store
was opened by H. H. Cordon and- Oris A.
Wells, where the Butler Service Station now
stands, later owned by Wm. McGlone and A.
B. Taylor. This store was later taken over
by Robert Dock and James M. White.

Later on the Willard Grocery Co. -began
business with Robert H. Morgan and Armeda
Ward as proprietors, who conducted it for
several years and then sold it to Florence
Taylor. '

Old Co-op Store that stcod until 1948
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The first road was just a trail, no well
defined ruts made by wagon wheels — no
bridges. The vegetation was sSparse, and

the brush showed signs of having been torn .

asunder hy something passing through.
This dimly marked highway was located

much farther west than is the present moun-

tain road through Willard however, its loca-
tion carried the trail through very rough

country. The early trappers and emigrants

followed the path of jeast resistance, avoid-
ing wide streams and marshes. This natur-
ally kept the trail close to the foothills”and
through ravines. The numerous springs
throughout the county furnigshed excellent
camping grounds for the weary emigrants
and their cattle, this too, had its bearing -on
the location of the road.

The road from the south entered Willard
close to the mountains, rounded the head of
the cold springs, and took a decided” turn
west to the Marsh spring from which point
it continued in a northwesterly direction to
Whites spring in the extreme northern end
of Willard.

Wild animal paths became routes connect-
ing communities in which there were commoe-
dities. Pioneers came to Utah on foot, with
oxen and scarcely enough food and very sel-

dom with horses. \
A man on foot day in and day out did

well to travel 20 miles a day. Oxen, pushed
hard, traveled three miles an hour or ten or

~ fifteen miles a day.

A trip from Ogden to the Hot Springs
was practically & days travel.
Stage coaches replaced the oxen and

wagons. But when the first settlers came
to Willard the method of transportation was

‘almost entirely by ox team for there were

only a few horses. A good days travel for
the ’49 stage coach was 120 miles then
later Pony Express stepped right along to
make 200 miles a day both changing fre-
quently.

Automobiles, now can make 700 miles a
day, trains 800 miles and the airplane 3,000
miles in a day.

The first main road through Willard came
through the main part of town, then cut
west down the side of willow creelk near
Peter Lowes farm across the creek.

Tt wasn't unusual o see the emigrants
come here in camp wagons with father,
mother and the children riding on top of
household goods with buckets, pots, kettles,
baskets, tubs, etc. dangling along sides and
bhack of the wagon.

As the method of transportation improv-
ed the cost of various crop prices changed.
Wheat raised here that had been selling
jumped from 60c a bushel to $2.40 TUn-
bleached muslin which had been selling at
$2.50 a yard, dropped to 50c a vd. ‘

Up until about 1909 the state highway
with all its ruts and bumps was kept up by
poll tax.

Tn the very early period of road building,
particular attention was paid to canyon
roads. This was the era of construction, a
period which of necessity was devoted to the
building of homes, stables, granaries, church-
es and schools.

In 1858, Mathew W. Dalton in his bio-
graphy says: “It was the policy of the
churph to make roads, pbuild up the com-
munity and develope the resources of nature
as fast asg possible.” He said that he and
Bishop Alfred Cordon were accunstomed to
keeping a force of from ten to twelve men
working on the rcad through the summer
months,

The first macadamized road in the coun-
try was built between Willard and Hot
Sp_rlngs, a distance of three and one-half
miles. This was done with conviet labor.
It was an experiment and the first tried out
by the state. A report given October, 1926,
by A. E. Holmgren states:

©“At the Weber County line on the south,
the first two miles of hard surfaced road
built in our country was laid by the Gilkuson
congtruction company north of the warm
springs. It was sixteen feet wide and cost
approxnnately $25,000 per mile, built on a
fifty-fifty basis, by county and state.”

The next 9 miles from south Willard to
south Brigham cost $28,000 per mile or a to-
tal of $252,000 built by the Phelps Construc-
tion company, and financed Dby the mill
county levy and state road hond.

In recent years our roads have been wid-
ened to four lane highways made of the best
of concrete.
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Willard Choir assembled in front of the rack house.of Robert B. Baird,
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nationally and internationally.
ens, besides being a great leader of song,
became noted as a writer and composer of
many L.D.S. hymns and anthems which today
are among the most popular L.D.S. church

In the early 80°s, the musical side of the
community was developed and improved un-
der the leadership of Dan Tovey, David P.
Jones and Edward Woolsey, all Welsh men di-
rect from Wales. These men organized a
good adult choir. It was with these men that
Prof. Evan Stephens, when a boy, began his
study of musie. A juvenile choir and brass
pand were among the things accomplished ;
although, previous to the brass band, a good
martial band of fife and drum had done
splendid service.

Willard hag especially been mnoted for its
musical ability. Evan Stephens distinguish-
ed himelf as a man of exceptional musical
ability. He was largely gelf-taught, and
through energy and determination, rose to
be the leader of the Great Salt Lake City
Tabernacle Choir and as a result of his ef-
forts, it became one of the great singing or-
ganizations of the country.

They sung under his direction at the Chi-
cago World's Fair in 1896 and became noted

WILLARD CENTENNIAL

1851-1951

seajed at organ, who was direcior of the choral group.

Evan Steph-

music. For many years, he conducted and
built the famous Tabernacle Choir to the
ageregation of over three hundred voices.
They have been broadcasting each Sunday
morning from the Great Mormon Tabernacle
since 1929, over a national hookup. They
have won from the nation, great praise for
their most inspiring musie. '

Robert B. Baird, ancther leader in musie,
both in vocal and organ and also of writing
hymns, was leader for many years. He was
a Scotchman and a good musician and actor.
He was an agent for the Oregen Short Line
railroad until ke was retired by age.

-Lewis Hdwards wrote many songs and
was especially outstanding in teaching chor-
us music to young people, He taught vocal
and instrumental music in Willard and sur-

.
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rounding towns for many Yyears.

Another Willard boy who distinguished
himself as a singer and teacher of vocal mu-
sic was Elibu Call.  He worked himself up by
his energy and initiative and determination
to be one of our leading voealists and teach-
ers throughout the state.

Mrs. Lottie Owens Sackett was another
leader in music in Willard. She conducted
the Willard Choir and after moving to Salt
Lake City, conducted the Qinging Mothers of
the Church for many years.

" Hannah B. Nicholas for many many years

has acted as accompanist on the organ and

iano for our choir and other singers; always’

faithful and on the job. She is still available
whenever her services are needed. Her ser-
vices in the Willard ward are unprecedented.

Others who have contributed  unselfishly
of their musical talents are: Alice Lowe
Nebeker, Geneve Marsh Higginbotham, Lot-
tie Zundel, Edith Edwards Baddley, Aundra
Barker Call, Laverne 7undel Gull, Roberta
Storey, Robert Woodyatt, Don Woodyatt,
Fred Woodyatt and others have contributed
much by their singing ability.

Other organists were Nancy Harding Nich-
ols, Olive Harding Tacer, Elsie Ward Lowe,
Mae 0. Brunker, Rachel B. Nelson, Amelia
Taylor Davis, Leona Ward  Hendrick,
Gladys Brunker Woodyatt, Iris Woodyatt
Wood, David T. Edwards, Della Dalton
Smith, Minnie Owens White, Rula Ward
Wright, Isabelle Dalton Seeger, Edith Ed-
wards Baddley, Inez Grey Petersen, Doril
White Horsley, garah Harding Davis,
Mattiec Facer Nebeker, Mona Baird Ward,
Hylda Woodyatt Cook, Evelyn Woodyatt and
Agnes White Andersen, Helen Jane Lemon,
and Athlene Toombs. ,

Choristers were Beth Ward, John A. Ward,
David C. Ward, Collin Wood, Mont Harmol,
Joseph A. Harding, Vaughn Wassom, James
White, Mae O. Brunker and Edith B. Hard-

ing.

The Bowery

On August 2, 1865, an interesting meeting

was held under 2 comfortable, snug and
gubstantial Bowery. It was 60 by 40 feet
enclosed on the sides with boards (except at
the entrance) and having & well put up stand
eomposed of two planks. The entire back of
’he stand in its whole length, 40 by 10 feet
"igh was covered by home made cloth; also
in front of the speakers heads and at each
end, bolts of home made cloth of various
patterns and fineness were piled up; among

“these bolts were noticed one of linen and

cotton. There were also apples, plums,

apricots, grapes, currants, enormous squash,
cabbage and other fruits.

The speakers were Elders Wilford Wood-
ruff, George Q. Cannon, Heber C. Kimball,
Franklin D. Richards and Brother B. H.
Stenhouse.

{Taken from the Church Historian
Office.) -

This Bowery was located just north of the
ditch on the public square, and a little east
of where the little grove was. It was used
in the summer for church purposes and
celebrations.—H.B.N.

The First Dramatic Association

Of Willard

A Dramatic Association was organized in
North Willow Creek in 1855. The great prob-
lem was dramas and scenery, as there were
no dramas to be had in the territory at that
time. Thomas R. Hawkins agreed to write
a play and a melodrama. He wrote one
entitled ‘“The Robber,” the first drama
staged in Willard. The plot of  the play
was laid in Mexico, and the theme was con-
cerned with some of the customs of the Ro-
man Catholic Church. The play was staged
in the new adobe schoolhouse, and every
nerve was strained to complete the stage
properties for the performance. The pro-

duction proved very satisfactory and the

people of Willard were greatly surprised to
find so much dramatic talent in their midst.

The players were: Verim Dives, Abraham
Dives, John P. Woods, Elisha Mallory,
Thomas F. Hawkins, Evan Williams, Mathew
W. Dalton, Robert Henderson, Orpha Warner,
Ellen Woods, Hannah Cook and Mrs. Evan

Williams. |

Admission was 25¢ or five pound of flour.
The flour was in great demand and sold
readily for cash.

Evan Sfephens, who

came to Willard a5 8

Welch immigrant

convert, remained

to become worganist ai

the ward church,

later was leader of
" the tabernacle cheir in

Szt Lake City.
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Amusements

Practically all amusements in early days
were supplied by home talent.  The efforts
of these good people was praiseworthy and
contributed many hours of pleasant recrea-
fion. There was no remuperabion altached
to efforts put forth by the performers who
contributed their time and talents for the
edification of the people.

The town supported a brass band for many ‘

years. On holidays the band gerenaded the
town and played at the exercises of the day,
which consisted of a program in the church
in the morning and competitive games, al-

ways ending with a baseball game in the af-

ternoon.
Each Memorial Day exercises were held

in the tabernacle in the morning and a pa-
rade, headed by the band, marched to the
cemetery.

The members of the band were: R. B.

Baird, leader; William Renshaw, J. A. Ed-
wards, George F. Harding, David T. Edwards,
Thomas H. Davis, Stillman Harding, John A.
Ward, Joseph A. Harding, Oris A. Wells,
Henry Edwards, Joseph Pettingill and John
Sherman.

Willard also supported several violinists, -

including: John Pettingill, Joseph Pettingill,
Hugh Pettingill, Nephi Brunker, Edward
Morgan, John Taylor and Henry Stauffer,
and at one time supported two orchestras.
Playing at the church basement were R. B.
Baird, clarinet; Wm. Renshaw, cornet; Han-
nah B. Nicholas, piano; Nephi Brunker, vio-
lin. Playing at Harding Hall were Joseph
A. Harding, viclin; J. A. Ward, clarinet;
Gladys Woodyatt, piano; George K. Harding,
bass violin; John Butler, violin; Henry L.
Edwards, cornet.

Willard has since early days supported

an excellent baseball team. Wm. Parsons
was the father of baseball in Willard. He
was an excellent player himself and had exe-
cutive ability in handling his team. Among

‘the early players were Cyril Call, Josiah

Call, Alonzo Call, Orvis Call, George Cor-
don, Gordon Nicholas, Jasper Nebeker, Isaac
Woodland, Oris Wells, Carson F. Wells,
Frank Warner (an Indian), Brigham Nebe-
ker, James S. Perry and John A. Ward.

The Present Church Building

The present Meeting House was built dur-
ing the first term of Bishop George Facer.
It stood unfinished for a number of years,
becsuse of persecution of leaders by U. S.
Marshals on account of polygamy. Bishop
Facer had to be away from home so much

that Brother John L. Ewards was appointed
Acting Bishop with Joseph Hubbard and
John J. Ward as counselors., They carried
the work on energetically and finished the
Meeting House. It had one large room, a

full basement and a two story vestry on the -

north.

It was heated by coal stoves and the main
room was separated by curtains. The base-
ment was used as an amusement hall.

During Bishop Joseph Hubbard’s term the
annex was built. This was begun in 1818.
This gave us more room. A coal furnace
and steam heat, together with a baptismal
font was installed. All together, these things
were a great improvement for our Ward.

It was dedicated March 28, 1915 by Apos-
tle George F. Richards.

The building when finished in 1890, cost
$20,000.00.

In 1914, the amusement hall and class
rooms when finished cost $22,500.00.

In Bishop Taylor's term, a comprehensive
improvement was made in all, except the
chapel. The north wall was pulled in so- it
was plumb, wooden trusses replaced by steel
ones, stage remodelled, moved lavatories up-
stairs, made a bishop’s office, a fine new
kitchen—100 percent electric—closed the
baptismal font, put in a stoker and made
three nice large classrooms upstairs and two
small ones in the basement, bought pianos, a
Hammond Eleetric Organ, moving picture,
microphone and landscaped the grounds.

In 1946 the remodelling of amusement hall
and classrooms cost $31,390.00.

In 1946, the old Relief Society Meeting
House was sold at auction and a fine room in
the meeting house was assigned to the Re-
lief Society. All of these rooms were paint-
ed and decorated and 600 chairs were bought.

In 1950, work was begun on remodelling
the chapel.
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. Willard “Ward Sunday Schoal ‘about. 1890, Only

P

Ty 1866, the foundation of the present
Church Building was built by Dan Tovey

and Dan Dennis.

The annex was began in 1918, during the

term of Bishop Joseph Hubbard. Dedicated
March 28, 1915, by Apostle George F. Rich-
ards, son of Apostle Willard Richards.

Relief Society was organized June 10, 1856.

Officers were Mary Ann Hubbard, presi-
dent; Ellen Wood, first counselor; Emma
Cordon, second counselor; Ann Ward, secre-
tary, and Phebe Harding, treasurer.

Relief Society was reorganized 25th of
April, 1868, presided over by Bishop Alfred
Cordon. Mary Aml Hubbard, president; El-
len C. Wood, first counselor : Mary Harding,
second counselor; Hannih (wok, seeretary,
and Phebe ilarding.

Note: Mary Am Hubbard was president

‘our of the group are stil living. Db

o Willard

of this organization for more than 40 years.
v M.IA. was organized October 19, 1875,
with Junius F. Wells in charge. Edwin P.

Cordon, president; James J. Chandler, first”

counselor; Johmn J. Ward, second counselor,
and Charles Cordon, secretary.

The Retrenchment Association or the
Y.L.MIA. was organized July 27, 1875.
Susannah Facer, president, with Mary Ann
Ward, Sarah Agnes Call, Mary B. . Cocok,
Jane Marsh, Jane Parsons and Eleanor M.
Owens as counselors. Annie Brewerton and
Qarah Renshaw, secretaries.

Sunday School — The Sunday Schoo! was
organized April 17, 1870, with John D. Gibbs,
superintendent; John T. Thain, assistant su-
perintendent; Charles Wright, secretary;
James J. {Chandler, assistant secretary; John
lubbard, treasurer. The teachers —were
Qarah Parsons, Hannah Cook, Jane Hunter,
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James J. Chandler, John Hubbard, William
Lowe, Omer Call, Homer Call, Martha A.
‘Waite and John Dowdle.

For a while there was a branch of the Wil-
lard Ward in the north and in the south.
They held their meetings, Sunday Schools
and Primary.

The officers of the First Primary of the
North Branch were Mrs, Verena Stauffer,
president; Agnes White, first assistant; Ag-
nes. J. Perry, second agsistant; Josephine
White, secretary and Elizabeth Nebeker,
assistant secretary. It was organized Sep-
tember 30, 1893.

The officers of the South Branch Primary
were Fannie Singleton, president; Sarah
Cordon, first assistant; Helena Cole, second
assistant; Priscilla Cordon, secretary and
Celia Wocdland, assistant secretary.

At the first meeting held in January
1896, the two secretaries were released and
Florence Singleton was appointed secrefary
with Lucy Hubbard as assistant secretary.
The first organization was in the fall of
1893.

- The first Sunday School of the North
Branch, as recorded in 1870, was Charles L.
Wood, superintendent; H. P. Madsen, first
assistant: A. G. Barker, second assistant.

They held their Sunday Schools in private
‘homes for awhile, then they held it in the

schoolhouse,

" On August 12, 1877, the Sunday School
was reorganized with Peter A. Nebeker as
superintendent; Ulrich Staufer, first assist-
ant; George Smith, second assistant; George
H. Facer, secretary; William Chandler, as-

Harding Store and danca hall

sigtant secretary.

The first Sunday School in South Wiltard
was organized January 19, 1879 with E. P.
Cordon, superintendent. The branch exten-
ded from BElijah Tams, then Robert Holmes
property to the Hot Springs. There were 60
members., The familics were Condon's, Fet-
tingill’s, Woodland’s, Whitaker’s and Wood-
yatt’s, _

First Fvents In Willow Creek (Willard

1st Bishop—Charles W. Hubbard.

" 1st Blacksmith — Evan Williams and Jona-

than Wells,

" 1st Broom—Made in 1851, Made of weeds

after threshing.

1st Campaign — 2 Oct. 1857 during Johnson
Army invasion. :

1st Canyon Road—1856 by Richard J. Davis,
William Welker and T. W. Brewerton,

1st Celebration—24 July 1856.

1st Death — John McCrary. Five days old
August 1854,

1st Telegrapher—I1867 George A. Meears.

1st Dairy—George Mason and Robert Hen-
derson,

1st Dramatic—1855.

1st Dressmaker—Hannah Cook.

18t Fort — 1853. Completed in 1855.

1st Glovemaker — Charlotte Cole, Bethia

Wells and Mary Facer.
1st Grist Mill—Mallory Brothers.
15t House—Elisha Mallory.

.18t House With Wooden Roofs—Owen Owens

20

‘18t Iron Mine—M. W. Dalton sold to Simon

Bamberger in 1870.

1st Mayor — George W. Ward.

1st Milliner — Jane Owens and Marion Perry

1st Y.M.M.I.A—Edwin P. Cordon, president;
James J. Chandler and J. J. Ward, As-
sistants. ‘

1st News Agent—Solomon Warner.

1st Postmaster — Salmon Warner.

1st Public Square — Agnes Owen’s lot.

Rock Diteh eompieted to the mountains -

1864.




WILLARD CENTENNIAL 1851-1951

‘Bishops And Counsellors Of Willard

(1) Joseph L. Lish (Presiding Elder)
1st Counselor Jonathan Wells
ond Counselor Dwight Barding

(2) Charles W. Hubbard
1st Counselor Jonathan Wells
ond Counselor Dwight Harding

(8) Verlam Dives
1st Counselor John Robinson
ond Counselor William Gardner

(4) Alfred Cordon
1st Counselor George Facer
ond Counselor Richard Davis

(5) George W. Ward
1gt Counselor George Facer

ond Counselor Mathew W. Dalton .

(6) George Facer
igt Counselor Edwin P. Cordon

ond Counselor Samuel N. Cook
(7) Abraham Zundel
1st Counselor E. P. Cordon
ond Counselor Samuel N. Cook
(8) George Facer
1t Counselor Edwin P, Cordon
ond Counselor Samuel N. Cook
(9) Wm. J. Facer
1st Counselor Helgar J. Paclker
ond Counselor John M. White
ond Counselor Apollos B. Taylor
(10) Joseph Hubbard
1st Counselor Helgar J. Packer
1st Counselor Apollos B. Taylor
ond Counselor Apollos B. Taylor
ond Counselor Lorenzo D. Perry
ond Counselor David T. Edwards
ond Counselor Pryor Facer
(11) Ephraim White
1st Counselor Willard Facer
ond Counselor Ulysses C. Taylor
Alonzo Barker Jr.
1st Counselor Irvin Perry
snd Counselor Ulysses C. Taylox-
ond Counselor Alonzo Barker Jr.
~ 9nd Counselor Irvin Perry
ond Counselor Israel Larkin
(12) J. Wesley Perry
15t Counselor George L. Braegger
ond Counselor LeRoy Guil
ond Counselor Merlin Cook
(13 Apollos B, Taylor
1st Counselor Orvin M. Lemon
ond Counselor Lavoy Call
ond Counselor Boyd Jeppeson
(14) Delbert E. Cook
1st Counselor Boyd Jeppeson
oand Counselor Rex Edwards
18t Coungelor Rex Fdwards
ond Counselor Charles Lofthouse

Ward Clerks
Charles Wright Israel Larkin
James J. Chandler Mabel Larkin
David . Hubbard Rex Edwards
Benjamin D. Harding Merlin Cook
Frank L. Lowe Wendell Hubbard
Joseph A. Harding

Members Of Our Community Who

Have Held Prominent Offices

Charles W. Hubbard—Member of the Terri-
torial Legislature.

George W. Ward—County Commissioner for
25 years.

Thomas W. Brewerton—=Selectman or Coun-
ty Cominissioner.

Peter Nebeker—County Commissioner for
two terms and School Board member for
8 vears.

Wwilliam Lowe — County Commissioner for
iwo terms and member of the State
Legislature.

Peter Lowe—County Commissioner for two
terms and member of the State Legis-
lature.

S. N. Cook—GCounty Commissioner and

member of the State Legislature for one
term and School Board member.
Tohn Alfred Edwards—County Treasurer for
two terms. State Auditor one term.
James J. Chandler — Member of County
School Board for four years. Principal
of Willard school for twenty years.
Herbert H. Cordon—~County Sheriff for two
terms. Special Detective for the Oregon
Short Line and Union Pacific R. R. for
30 years. Retired. ‘

Wm. E. Cole—Major General U.S.A. 25 years.
Fought in World War L.

Justin D. Call—Distriet Judge for two terms.
County Attorney for one term.

Benjamin C. Call — District Attorney for
four years. County Attorney for two
years.

Wm. Vosco Call — U.S. Marshal for {five
years.

Tsahella Dalton Seeger — County Recorder
for two ferms.

" R. E. Davis—Sheriff for four years. Mem-

2i

ber of State Land Board for & years and
Warden of the State Penitentiary for
12 years.

Wm. E. Davis—County Attorney for four
vears. District Attorney for four years.

D. ¢ Hubbard—County Superintendent for
two terms. Member of Stale Tegisla-
ture.

Win. J. Lowe-—County Attorney for two
terms. Dwstriet Avtorney for two terms.
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Melvin Nebeker—County Surveyor. Willard School Teachers .. - ‘
Christena Madsen—County Recorder for two ‘ ers o Lweed, ot
torms. . Henry Thatcher, 1st Agnes W. Owens  f,7z0.. 04 J
Helen W. Benedict — County Recorder for Ada Chandlgr J. Welton Ward d‘; ‘LZ o
two tarms. Charles Wright Mae B. Jackson 2t toed.,
Esther C. Stewart Owen Ward

Tl R. Ward—~County Assessor for one term.
James J. Chandler Sarah Z. Josephson

John J. Ward County Treasurer for one
term. Royal Lowe George D. Harding
Benjamin D. Harding—County Treasurer for D. C. Hubbard Blanche Cole
two terms. Sarah H. Horsley Phebe Harding
John H. Zundel — County Sheriff for 24 va J. Lowe Sarah R. Wells
years. - - {Olive M. Andersen = Rose A, Jones
A. P. Dalton—Member of School Board. }Ym. E, Morgan  Jennie H. Lloyd -
J. Hyrum Ward — Member of State Liquor Margaret C. Morris  Tycinda Z. Beecher
Control for three years. B;hz_abeth- Nebeker  Charles Cordon
Collin Wood Gwen H. Redford

Ephraim White-—State Agriculture Inspector Flizabeth Hardi :
Deputy for 10 years, U. 8. Investigating SlZADS a,rldmg Lucy P. Doyle
james M. White Louise Kunzler

Prohibition Deputly for six years. K
James M. White—Utah State Inspector in ate Owens Eliza M. Mason
Weights and Measures for four years. Josephine Woodland Tee Nebeker
A. B. Taylor Mary A. Morgan

Owen Nebeker—Warden of State Prison for Nartha L Parrish L C
one term. State Prohibition Deputy for I{iial a H. Parrish  Alice Harding
a T. White Forstner Zundel

12 years. s
Abraham Zundel—Member of 1st State Leg- %Tl?th}a ‘%, Xgard Motllie H. Morgan
islature for one term. Mail Carrier Ells_le Lowe owe Martha B. Woodland
trom Ft. Limhi on the Salmon in Idaho Mqlrsth o%e Pettingill Sylvia Mason
to Salt Lake City, from 1855 to 1857. Marth e W e Vs Call
Naris Zondel —Appointed March 15, 1901, 85 Bamir B Daley i White
.:rsnember of State Silk Commission for VZda ?\?Iasbn arey %{&gﬂz % X&éard
years. : ; Tacgeer
Dwight B. Harding—County Brand Inspector. %Ein%an Harding D. C. Ward
Danigl R. Woodland—County Brand Inspec- ;«331 q {ID-I“;iding %i?gﬁelgiﬁgﬁd
or. T : o
J. Wel’go.’q Ward—DMember of State Tax Com- Iuiléiztﬁé Sg,(lisebury : fﬁ?;:ﬂMﬁiiﬁ +
mission. ; :
J ose%h M. -andel — Member of State Tax %ii?fe{EHOW‘%zgd ﬁlﬁ;ﬁ;;axferﬁﬁggg- d
Merlir:)rﬁr.né?;{;i(]ounfy Clerk Margaret Davis Pauline Hubbard
Doct R ) Mary C. Brunker Emma M. Davis
octors eese Hubbard Marguerita H. Kellar Martha L. Harris
Lester Barker Jamfes 8. Perry Jane M. Cole Marcel M. Ryan
JngurIfIl %Ebbgrd gfﬂham J. Lowe Marion P. Johnson Melba W. Hoopes
JohnRuM 3'1' eorge H. Lowe Joseph M. Dudley June Cordon -
(feon F. I—Ig;g?xil SURVEYORS Agnes P. Nebeker A};dra B. Call
Tt o di:t%‘g - Ph‘ﬂ.ip Elsey J ogn Call Liza Call .'Nelson” 7
Vernon L. Ward Baird Nelson e : T
Lester Ward Wms_low Cole _
Wm, ). Neheker ~ Siclvin Nebeker
Fred Stauffer WFOII a V&sJ'I
Ernest Ward R ab a%eD lilc
Wm. T. Ward obert Larton
Milton Hubbard _ NURSES
Beunlah Nebeker
, Judge Mollie H. Morgan
Waldemar A. Call Elsie Braegger
Aquilla Nebeker Caroline Stauffer
_ Lawyers Sarah Hardy
George J. Marsh Norma Lemon

Glen Hubbard Emma B. Loveland

22




Charles N. Hubbard
James S. Perry
Moroni Beecher
Pauline M. Ramsdy
Alfred Ward

T. Norton Brunker
Isaac Waddell

Wm. W. Owens
John Hubbard

Ida W. Higley
Samuel Warner
Tilda W. Owens
Frank Warner
Charlotte O. Sackett
Mrs. Hucknail
Delta Cole

Thomas Hawkins
Mary L L. Lee
Hattie Chandler

J. A. Ward )
Wm. Chandler’
Marion D. Ward
Elma Wood

Addie M. Westerberg

Althea H. Gardner
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Marion N. Cook
‘Ethel B. Jeppesen
jenfiie H. Dalton
Lavinia Rock

D. F. Harding
Lucy Nebeker
Cleon Lemon
Aseal Taylor
Arlene S. Jorgensen
Ida Perry

Carma N. Simper
Esther L. Stalker
Julia H. Wellings
Vilate C. Nuhn

Iva M. McAllister
Iva S. Archibald
Tzapella P. Dalton
CGenova L. Robinson
Bdward Ward

* Veda M. Schanky

Dr. Geo. F. Harding

- Dr. Jacob D. Harding

Ralph J. Harding
Barbara P. Larkin
Elegnor P. Petersen

World War Veterans

Frank Braegger
Lee Barker ’
T. Norton Brunker
Joseph Carlson
Cyrus Clay
Roscoe Cole
Winglow Cole
Merlin Cook
Orley Dial
Parker Faser
Leo Facer
Walter Finn
John L. Finm -
Barnest Hubbard
Wesley Hubbard
Milton Hubbard
Lester Hubbard
Arthur Jacobsen
David. Kunzler
Ear] Lemon
(leon Lemon

Martin Smith

. Elijah Tams

Aseal Taylor

. William Ward
. Clifford Wood

Rulon White
Wallace Ward
Irl B. Ward
David C. Ward

- Qwen Wells

George A. Ward
Lyman Wells
Alton Wells
Edward Whitaker
John A. Woodland
Tred Woodyatt
James 0. White
Milton Zundel
Robert Dalton
George C. Baddley
Malcolm J. Baird

“Aprazham MathewsonClarence J. Braeqeor,

Brigham Nebeker
Marcellus. Nebeker
Aquilla Nebeker -
Wendell Nebeker
Lee Nebeker
Lester Owens
Elwood Pettingill

Harold Hunter
Gleon Jeppson’

" Leo Baddley

John G. Braegger
George B. Cook
Clarence J. Jones

b}

Keith Pettingill
Wilford Pettingill
Floyd Perry
William Rolfe
Ernest Stauffer
Tern Stauffer
Benjamin Stark
Leonard Smith
Henry Rolfe

~ Veteran Of Spanish-

American War

“Vi¢” Grandpre
Veterans of

Civil War
John Dial
Peter Rock
C. L. Marshal
Mr. Beasley

e —————

World War Il Veterans

Dean Baddley
Harold Baddley
Elmer Baker
Wayne Baker

Carl S. Barker
Dean Barker
Harry Barker

Rex L. Barker
Louis R. Barnes
Frank Boss

Alfred Boss
Arthur Leslie Boss
Glenn G. Braegger
James E. Braegger
Roy George Braegger
Roy L. Braegger
Max A. Brunker
Herbert Butler
Leland T. Carison
Blaine Clay
Wallace Clay, Jr.
Douglas Cook
George W. Cook
Sidney N. Cook
Alexander P. Dalton
Jack R. Davis

John P. Dial
William 1. Dial
Nelson P. Crowell
Charles J. Edwards
John E. Edwards
Max P. Facer
Darwin Facer
Wayne G. Facer
Parker W, Facer
Robert W. Farmer
Odeen L. Forsgren
Irvin 8. Graser
Kenneth Graser
Verl Graser )
Wayne V. Graser
Theron Gull
O'Ryan Gull

Lewis Harding
Qtillman J. Harding
Raymond L. Harrop

Ronald G. Mackey
Felix Machkek
Darrell G. Madsen
Lawrence Molgard
Lymn Molgard
Robert W. Morgan
Gordon B. Nicholas
Royd Parsons
Vernal Parsons
Elmer R. Perry
Joseph Creer
Leroy Smith
Trvin Smith
Grant Taylor
Grant Ward
Ralph Ward

Don Woods

Ross Woods
Flmer H. Ward
Ottis Wood
Richard Ward
Noble Wells

Leo W. Wells

Rex Oberhansley
Floyd Pettingill
Gay Pettingill
Rex W. Pettingill
Verner W. Sparks
Earl C. Taylor
Joseph P. Waite
Keith Warren
Alma Warren
Alvin F. Wells
Fred Wendell
Frank Woodland
Duane P. Woodland
Perry Woodland
Mark Woodland
Orville Woodland
Marlin Woodland
Kent Woodland
T. Wayne Woodland
Glen Woodyatt
Kenneth Woodyatt
Don R. Woodyatt
Bert Lemon
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Robert M. Ipsen
Eli P. Jensen
Clark Ipsen
Merl Ipsen

Boyd H. Jeppeson
Ervin H. Jensen
Fred Jones

Koy Hubhard
Chester Keyes
Gale H. Keyes
Theodore Keyes
Theron Keyes
Floyd Kungler
Grant Kunzler
Raymond Kunzler
Daniel Larkin
Larry Larkin
Israel Larkin Jr.
Leo J. Lee
Merlin 8. Lemon
Orvin L. Lemon
Roy G. Lemon
Donald Lowe

J. Kent Lowe
Parker Lowe
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Lorin Ward
Ross Nebeker
Ferron K. Nebeker

Kenneth N. Nebelker

Mearle C. Marsh
Ira Archibald
Eldridge Wood
Jaele Gunther
David Larkin
Eddie Knutscen
Earl Zundel

" “Mont Zundel

James W. Zundel

- Lowell Alvord

Kenneth Zundel
Howard Bedford
Darrel Woodland
Farrell Boss
Wayne Priebe
Leon Carver
Lamont Hess
Albert Bender
Parker Braegger
Darwin Facer
Reed Hubbard

Peter M. Lowe
Richard E. Lowe -

Willard As A Civic Community

In the fall of 1851, Willow Creek, now Wil-
lard, was surveyed by Henry G. Sherwood
assisted by Cyril Call, grandfather of Benj.
C. Call, who took up land for his sons.

Tn 1859, at a mass meeting, it was voted

to change the name of No. Willow Creek to.

Willard, in honor of Apostle Willard Rich-
ards. In February, 1870, by an Act of the
Utah Legislature, Willard received her char-
ter ag a city. An election held August 1,
1870, George W. Ward was elected Mayor.
The City Councilmen were T. W. Brewerton,
Abraham Zundel, Homer Call, John P. Wood
and Thomas S. Woodland with Alfred Ward,
recorder, and Owen Owens, marshal.

The following hav ebeen Mayor of Willard:
George W. Ward for 15 years; T. W. Brewer-
to, 8 years; John J. Ward for 2 years; Peter
Lowe, 4 years; James M. Dalton, 4 years; S,
N. Cook, 2 years; John L. Edwards, 4 years;
Abraham Zundel, 2 years; C. ¥. Wells, 2
years; Joseph H. Mason, 4 years; James M.
White, 2 years; William Lowe, 2 years; A. B.
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Taylor, 4 years; Harvey Woodyatt, 2 years;
Ellis P. Lowe, 5 years; Reuben Nebeker, 2
years; J. Welton Ward, 8 years; Ezra Ne-
beker, 4 years; Merlin Cook, 1 year; George
Braegger 1 year; Leslie Brunker 2 years;,
Perry Dalton, 4 years.

Ogden River Canal

This project, usually referred to as Pine-
view reservoir and canal, has a real part in
the development of Willard. The reservoir
is located in the bottom of Ogden canyon.
It has formed a good sized lake which extends
up the canyon for several miles to the town
of Huntsville and impounds a large amount
of water for irrigation which runs in canals .
both north and south from the canyon. The
water collected comes from the watershed of
Ogden River and is runoff or surplus water
which used to go into Great Salt Lake.

The canal, which extends north, ends at
Box Elder canyon at Brigham City. It was
begun in 1935 and water was first turned in
June 1937.

It is made of cement and will carry 120
second feet of water. Shares of water were
sold to subseribers to be used on land along
the Wasatch foothills thus reclaiming thous-
ands of acres for use. ‘

Qutlets were made for the convenience of
the users and cement laterals made to the
forms fo prevent washing. The U.S. gov-
ernment built the project and gave the sub-
scribers a long period of time to pay for it.
They also have to maintain the system. The
canal is at the foot of the mountaing and by
means of siphons, aqueducts, ete., has a grav-
ity flow to the end several emergency dams
have been made in case of washouts or other
damage. ’

This system has brought under cultivation
very much high land that was practically
wagste land before, but which is now most
valuable for fruit growing, because of less
danger from frost. It releases, also, land
lower in the fields for other crops where
once fruit trees grew without much success.

The most noticeable advantage is in South
Willard because of the large amount of dry
land there. The change made by the canal
is one of most striking phenomena of our
community.
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In January, 1878, the members of the Wil--
lard Ward Relief Society felt the need of
building 2 house in which to have meetings
and also to have a place to store their wheat.
The members of the bishopric and other
brethren of the priesthood sanctioned the
movement and were very cooperative, giving
advice and donating their services.

The executive officers of the Relief Society
were: Mary Ann Hubbard, president; Jane
Owens, first counselor; Mary J. Harding,
second counselor ; Hannakh Cook, secretary.

A building committee was appointed with
Charles Wood as' chairman and architect:
The land was donated by Moszes Dudley.
Other donations consisted of all Sunday eggs,
boards, molasses and small contributions of
money.

The lumber was obtained from “The Little
Valley,” now known as Mantua. The first
thousand feet of lumber was purchased for
$19.00. The rest of the lumber was purchas-
ed as needed. The total cost of the building
was $1,076.10 (One Thousand and Seventy-
six Dollars and Ten Cents). The frame-
work was constructed and &~ severe wind
blew it down, but was soon rebuilt.

The building was to have two stories. The
upper floor was to be used for meetings and
sheials. This part was to be shared by the
YLMIA. The entrance to this apartment
was to be made from the street on the west
and up a flight of stairs to the north part of
the building. The lower or first floor was
to contain the wheat bins, which were par-
titioned off. The approach to this part was
from the east. The lower Zfloor contained
one room, which was for The City Council
Meetings. ' B R

While this house was being built, ‘the one
Tundred and thirty-six members of the Relief
Society were busy sewing carpet rags. The
carpet rags were to-be woven into a twenty-
five yard carpet to cover the floor and stairs.
Buying shades for the windows, working mot-
toes for the adornment of the walls were
also projects that the members of the So-
ciety put over during the time the building
was being built. There was also a coal and
wood cellar under the building. .

The building was dedicated the 29th day of
April, 1880. Bishop George W. Ward of-
fered the dedicatory prayer. Sister Eliza
R Snow ‘was present and spoke at the. ser-
vices. "The benches for the room were
made by the brethren. o

A brass bell was later hung on the west
gable. Collections for the purchase of the
hell were taken in the Ward Sunday School.
A Dbell rope was attached to the bell and ex-
tended through the ceiling and floor of the
upper room. [t was rung from the lower
floor. Rain, coming through the bell rope
hole damaged the plaster and whitewash, so
a belfry was built over the bell.

‘Brother Charles Wood was accorded the
honor of ringing the bell for the first time..
Brother Moses Dudley was appointed to ring
the bell, to announce the meetings of all or-
ganizations, one hour before the meetings
began. The bell was also rung to warn
polygamists that the U. 8. Deputy Marshals
were on their way from Ogden to Willard.
The ringing of the bell was a signal for all
polygamists to be in hiding at the arrival of
the officers. The bell was also rung for cur-
few purposes, and to notify the people that
at 6 A. M. their cows were to be taken for-
the day to a range. The range, of course, .
was a town pasture and owned by the citi-
zens of the town. The bell was also rung
to notify the people that help was needed,
such as to put out a fire or o assist in the
finding of a lost child. After the dismant-
ling of the building, the bell was taken to
the D.U.P. Relic Hall in Brigham City for
safe keeping. -

With the passing of the years, changes
have heen made to the building. A new
oranary was erected a few yards east of the
Relief Society building. The purpose was to
store wheat; thus, taking it away from the
meeting place of the associations. The old
iron stove, that roasted the women’s faces,
while' shivvers crept up their backs, was re-
placed by an up-to-date Heatrola. The stairs
leading to the upper room were rebuilt to
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Relief Seociety house removed in [94é
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make an easier assent. The walls were pap-
ered, 2 handsome broadloom ecarpet was
bought to cover the floors - and attractive
shades, curtains and drapes were hung at
the windows.

The building now (1842) is in good cofi-
dition, considering the many years of ser-
vice. Due %o the color of the paint, that
once covered it, it was known as the “White
House.,” It now stands out quite prominent-
ly with an attractive coat of ivory .paint.
The meetings of the Relief Society are still
held in the building.

(Written by Alice Harding, now
deceased).

(NOTE)

April 9, 1946—The Willard Ward Relief
Society Building was sold to the highest bid-
der, in compliance with the order of The
Presiding Bishopric of the Church, in the ful-
Fillment of their desires “To have all church
property beantified, previous to the Centen-
nial year of 1947.”

Harper Rillings, Jr. bought the building
for $250.00. The building was moved to
Perry and has been reconstructed and is now
used for housing the employees of the can-
ning company.

The Relief Society then held their meet-

" ings in a room that was designated by the

bishopric. The $250.00 which was paid for
the purchase of the building, was placed in
a “Savings Account” in the Brigham City
Bank. We paid for all expenses in furnish-
ing the room. We bought new chairs, cur-
tains and draperies.
cleaned and resized and put a pad under it.
We even.paid $150.00 for the large double
doors put in at the west side of the room.
A floor lamp was also purchased, and the
picture of Christ was given us by the church
offices. Martha Wells gave us an electric
clock, and doilies were given us for the chairs
by Rachel B. Nelson, Lillie Brunker and
Grace B. Nicholas. The picture of the old
building that is hanging in the rocom was
given by Sister Lois Billings.

Edith E. Baddley, president
Audra B. Call, 1st Counselor -
Myrtle Toombs, 2nd Counselor
Hannah B. Nicholas, Sec.-Treas,

We also had the rug

F

tled, it was necessary for the
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Water Supply

When the town of Willard was first set-
Pioneers to
build for the future; therefore, resources,
land, water and protection from Indian raids
ware to he considered as of primary import-
ance.

Naturally, shelter and homes were built
where water was to be had for culinary pur-
pose. The melting snow made the natural
streams and along these streams, land was
cultivated and crops were planted and the
irrigation of erops was begumn.

The seed brought by the Pioneers was
carefully guarded and one and one-half bush-
els of grain to the acre and the yield was
sufficient to produce seed for the next year.
Not only was wheat grown but fruit trees
and vegetables were planted.

It was enstomary to plant only the amount
of seed for family use at first because there
was no sale for the surplus.

In 1851 and 52 everyone had their own
garden, but before the season was over; ow-
ing to seepage water became scarce and it
was necesary to haul water in barrels from
the canyons for home and for livestock.

As the population increased it became ne-

cessary to increase production. Nearly all
the public projects were completed through
tge cooperative effort and church leader-
ship. :
Tn 1857, a meeting was called by the pre-
siding officer and a committee of young
men were chosen to investigate how the
amount of water could be increased and
brought down into the valley without waste.
AR a result, members of the Ward gave vol-
unteer service, contributing time, team and
hard work to increase the water supply.

The result was; furrows were ploughed
and ditches made wide enough and deep
enough to carry the water down to the val-
ley level. Later this main stream was giv-
en a rock base so that the loss by seepage on
the way down the canyon was very little and
the amount of water by this means was suf-
ficient for all purposes.

About 1860, many of the settlers dug sur-
face wells near their homes using this water
in the home. As more land was cultivated,
the distribution was changed and the streams
divided from the main mountain stream.

The firgt surface well was dug on what is
now Joseph R. Lowe’s lot, which was sixty-
five feet deep. Later as the farmers were
irrigating the water was reached in the
surface wells at a depth of from fifteen to
twenty feet.
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Willard .Main Street affer 1923 flood

The Flood Of 1923 |

Beginning in the early evening hours of
Avgust 13, 1928, a heavy downpour of cloud-
burst proportions struck Willard and the
nearby mountains. This deluge was especial-
ly heavy in the hills so that the runoff from
the bare hills accumulated in the bottom of
the canyon and sent a flood of water down
into the seftlement, causing great damage to
many homes and carrying away many out-
buildings. The main highway was made im-
passable and trafiic was diverted to the fields
to get around the debris. Several feet of
slimy mud was deposited in some homes, and
it was weeks before order was restored.

This flood was the result of overgrazing
of the hillsides by sheep and cattle, which
left the terrain devoid of vegetation so ne-

cessary to keep water from cutting gullies, .

and retaining the water in the soil.

The Willard C.  C. Camp restored this
watershed by terracing and planting grass,
thereby preventing the water from. accumu-
lating in the canyon. This area was made &
part of the Cache National Forest and at the
present time i controlled from overgrazing.

Two lives were lost in this flood. They
were Mary Ellen Brewerton and Agnes Mason
Ward, mother and wife, respectively of Irl B.

Ward.

iR 2%

Alired Ward®s residence after the 1923 flood
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Willard Cemetery

Nestled at the base of the majestic Wa-
satch range, commanding a gtriking view of
the scenic countryside, lies the Willard City
cemetery. Here in the picturesque setting,
surrounded by the mountains and the mir-
rored lake, lies the departed sons and
daughters of Willard.

Green grass and well-placed ghrubbery now
mark their resting place, where, only a few
vears ago, sagebrush and June grass entwin-
ed with shaggy “flags” to make this hallow-
ed plot of ground unsightly.

The first that was buried in this cemetery
was Mrg. Caroline Jones, wife of Zepheniah
Jones. She died December 18, 1B69.

: IMPROVEMENTS _

The cemetery was under the supervision

of the officials of Willard City. There was
a great desire among the people of Willard
to have it beautified. In 1946, and in com-
pliance with certain laws of the State of
Utah, a commission was appointed by Gov-
ernor Herbert Maw. The commission were
George W. Facer, Gus Perry and Delbert
Cook. Certain formalities had to be gone
through before any further steps were
taken. " ,
Hannah B. Nicholas was appointed by the
commigsion to be their secretary-treasurer.
On March 5, 1948, a mass meeting was called
for the purpose of finding out the full de-
sires and wishes of the people in regard to
the beautifying of the cemetery. The com-~
mission was authorized to proceed with the
plan. _
On March 25, 1948, the Commercial Club
of Brigham City gave a banquet in the
classrooms of the church. Four hundred
and ninety-five dollars was cleared and was
the  initial payment for the project. The
name of the project wags Willard Precinet
Cemetery Maintenance District. -

The assessment was $100.00 per lot and
planted to grass by the commission, §75.00
per lot if taken care of by lot owners.

Fosi bost wffce ar Willard
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“Better Than Southern Parks,”
Says Loca Booster Regarding

Willard Scenic Area
By B. C. Call
1 have just returned from a five-day,
twelve-hundred mile trip by motor to Wayne

County Wonderland, Bryce National park,
and the North rim of the Grand canyon,
looking down most of the time and seeing
inantimate red, gray, vellow and white
sandstone and shale, all of which was very
beautiful. However, when I returned home
I wished to look and travel upward, seeing
gomething alive yet equally beautiful and
colorful, so I drove my car on_ a four-hour
sixteen-mile trip to the Willard DPeaks.
Traveling south from Mantua, the motor of
my car was warm when I shifted into second,
but I did not murmur nor complain about the
road as I clearly remembered the many
double loops and hairpin curves we had to
take in low, traveling to and from the

~ gouthern parks.

The beantiful wild flowers of summer
months with all the colors and shadings of
the spectrum had disappeared, but the first
touch of frost had turped the oak leaves and
maple, chokecherry, serviceberry, elderberry,
serub oak, and mahogany into a blaze of

brilliant hues. Generally referred to as

“huck brush,” mahogany is valuable as a
browsing feed for deer which inhabit the
mountainous region.

" As the car ascended the mountain, my pas-
sengers and I saw many taller trees, includ-
ing blue spruce, a symmetrical evergreen,
blue-green in foliage, and selected as Utah's
state tree. Here, too, growing on the same
level as the spruce, are the white and yellow
pine, and farther up three species of juniper
trees, commonly referred fo as cedars.
From 89 fifteen miles east of Logan, a trail
one and one-fourth miles long has been built
to Juniper Jardine, a tree thought to be 3000
years old, and our old junipers, if studied,
would probably show equally interesting his-
tory. Within my lifetime, Rocky Mountain
red cedar growing east of Willard was used
by the residents to make cedar chests, and
the tastless wood of balsam for Dbutter
bowls and cheese containers. Bark from
Douglas fir or red pine was used in tanning
hides for shoes and harness leather. Groves
of aspen trees, generally called “gquaking
asp,” because of their shimmering leaves, are
growing at the 7000 foot level on our way up
the mountain., In Autumn their golden fo-
liage adds beauty to the landscape, while
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their sweet fragrance is mingled with that of
the pine, spruce and cedar.

Before entering the basin, which is about
three miles by one and one-half miles in
area, a gate is opened and at the south side of
Old Baldy or Willard Peak, 9768 feet above
sea level, lifts his bald but majestic head
and bids you enter and refresh yourself at
the lake, lying at his feet 827 feet below.
From the top of Willard Peak, also referred
to as Ben Lomond by early explorers, and
which can be reached by a short hike, three
lower peaks can be seen to the west. Clearly
visible from the town of Willard, with their
white scarves and dark skirts, I think of as
the Three Sisters. Not so high, but with
massive, stooped shoulders Father Time is
standing north across the canyon, looking
down as the water falls approximately 200
feet over perpendicular granite walls.

Inspiration Point, 6000 feet higher than the
lake, is reached by an automobile road from
the west end of the basin, winding through
a beautiful forest. From this point, as well
as from Willard Peak, spreads a breathtaking
view of the eity of Brigham, Willard, Malad,
Cache and Salt Lake Valleys, islands of Great
Salt Lake, Lucin Cut-Off, Pine View Reser-
voir, and mountains of Idaho, Wyoming and
Nevada,

Hikers take the more direct and precipit-
ous route as it zig-zags up Willard canyon,
hearing the music of the stream as it
splashes over the rocks, many large ones
having been washed to the surface during the
flood of several years ago. For the careful
listener, the singing of the pines is some-
times punctoated by the drumming of grouse.
On our motor trip by road, we saw a flock of
grouse, three deer, a large porcupine, and
many birds. In pioneer days the region was
also a common habitat for the eagle and
mountain goat.

Early mountaineers of Willard said that
after Jim Bridger came down the Bear River
from Cache Valley in his bull boat of hides,
and discovered Great Salt Lake, he hiked up
to the top of Willard Peak in order to more
completely survey the lake and valley and
that he cut his name and date of visit on a
tree trunk. If that tree could be located and
the inscription read, it would undoubtedly
settle the dispute as to whether he, Efiene
Provost, Jedediah Smith, or Peter Skeen
Ogden first saw the inland sea. All came
to Salt Lake Valley in 1824,

At the Grand Canyon lodge can be furnish-

- ed a sure-footed western horse and guide on
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an overnight trip to the bottom of the gorge
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for $54.00. At a small cost with the ajd of
o bulldozer a bridle trail could be constructed
from & point beginning south east of Brig-
ham City and intersecting the road near
Perry reservoir, thereby cutting off five
miles of the mountain road, or more direct
up Willard canyon. What  better project
could the Box Elder County Sheriff’s Posse
spongor than such a trail, an additional use
for these splendid animals and the many
riding horges of the county? Horseback
yiders can explore through winter and sum-
mer many mountain retreats inaccessible to
the motorist.

With the united effort of civic and lum-
chein clubs, schools, church, and municipal
organizations of Box Flder county, Willard
Rasin should be made the playground and
picnic area for the people of northern TUtah
and southern Idaho. Springs could be devel-
oped and water piped to a central building,
tables, benches and toilet facilities provid-
ed; the Forest service aasisting in this pro-
ject as it has done in many other places.

According to figures furnished me by
(land Allen of the U. S. Forest service, the
peak just north of North Ogden and some-
Yimes referred to as Mount Ben Lomond is
9,717 feet high, Mount Ogden located east of
Ogden is 9,575 feet, and Willard Peak is
9,768 feet above sea Jevel, Other figures
obtainable place Willard Peak more than
100 feet above all the others.

Civilian Conservation Corps

Tn 1935 the U.S: government organized in

many parts of the country, camps for unem- -

ployed young men. During the great depres-
sion it was almost impossible to find work.
There was_great concern about the welfare
of the young people, 50 thousands were en-
listed in the C.C.C. ,

Large camps were established in various
places where they were lodged, clothed, fed
and paid about $30 2 month. In addition
they were provided social and recreational
activities. This organization was semi-
military for the purpose of maintaining dis-
cipline. The government and the comuni-
ties provided public works so that the boys
would be usefully employed and the country
would benefit by their employment.

A camp was established in Willard on a
tract of land belonging to A. B. Taylor, about
2 mile south of the Willard school and loca-
ted one Tourth mile east of the state highway.
A roadway was made to the camy, culinary
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water and elecricity were connected and the
building of a large camp was begun. Large
harracks for sleeping quarters, a large din-
ing room which was connected to a large
modern kitchen would care for several score
of men. There were large ghops and storage
sheds, quarters for the officers, and a library.
Class instructions was given. TFive acres were
covered with buildings. A little park was
made with lawn and a flag pole.

Their engineers surveyed the land round
about. Irrigation ditches for farmers were

made when the farmers furnished the ma-
rock

ferials. They made spillways and
walls to divert high water. They did the
rock work on the dyke on the highway, but

the most important work they did was 1n
flood control at the head of Willard canyon.
As mentioned elsewhere in this book a cloud-
burst caused a flood in the canyon in August
1923, causing much damage to property,
ineluding destruction of the TUtah Power
and Light plant at the canyon’s mouth.

The cause of the sudden runoff of water
was ekcessive and.unlimited grazing in the .
bhasin.

The C.C.C. established a “spike camp” at
the head of the basgin and trenches were dug
on sides of the mountains, amall reservoirs
with spillways were made, reforestation was
carried on and every precaution was taken to
prevent water from runaing out of the
canyon too fast. The city, county and state
joined in buying the land and fenced it to
keep cattle and ‘sheep out. Since then there
has been no flood trouble.

When employment by privaie enterprises
resumed the C.C.C. was discontinued and the
buildings of the C.C.C. were sold to A. B.
Taylor. The place was converted inte a

dairy and fruit farm.

Cregon Shori Line railway depot in Willard
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Great Salt Lake

The Great Salt Lake, lying in the inter-
mountain region, is one of the great land-
marks of our country. Originally it was
very much larger and very deep as the high
water marks on the mountain testify. Its
ontlet to the sea was through Cache Valley
north through Portneuf River to the Snake
and then to the ocean.

1t was discovered by James Bridger as far
as the white people were concerned, was
named Lake Bonneville after Captain Bon-
neyville, the explorer. Captain Fremont ex-
plored it in a boat.

1t is about 80 miles long and 40 miles wide
and containg about 25% salt, not now having
an outlet.

This large body of water has a tempering
and benign influence on the climate of the
surrounding country. Because of its large
salt content much salt is made west of Salt
Lalke City.

When settlers first came to Willar:] the
lake was high and washed against the Lracks
of the Southern Pacific railroad.

Diversion of water to irrigation has re-
duced the level and pasture and farm lands
now exist on what was once lake bottom.

It was the home of numberless wild fowl,
which could be shot without limit.

In the early days it was used for commeree,
sailing vessels plying from Willard to other
places, and a steamship line extended from
Corinne to Salt Lake City. The coming of
the railroad superceded lake travel

Pionear home of Owight Harding wio came ia |56

Nationality Of The First
Settlers Of Wiilard

The people who first settled in Willard
during the years of 1851-2-8 were all Ameri-
can born. Most of them had shared in the
exodus from Nauvoo, and were all acquain-
ted with the lives of the Pioneers. In the
sunmer of 1853, several English and Scoteh
families came almost from their native coun-
tries. Later in the year, the Welsh Saints
came in a company. So here in the little
town of North Willow Creek, with about 500
souls, were representations of many of the
states of the Union and of the Kuropean
countries. Among these were musicians,
weavers, blacksmiths, millwrights, and cob-
blers, to combine with the all jmportant art
of farming. s o 1GTE

Willard iz now 100 yefrs old.” A grand
old town, wih the best people of the earth
and located in the most beautiful part of the
earth. Let ug all revere the names of our
pioneers, and be thankful to our Heavenly
Tather that we are the descendants of such
wonderful Pioneers.

WRITTEN BY JUDGE B. €, CALL AND HIS DAUGHTER MARIE CALL

WEBB, STAGED BY REX EDWARDS AND MRS. EDITH BADDLEY.

No. |. A very ancient tribal settlement of mound builders [ocated

about’ 125i, Circular homes were 12 feet high, 30 jeet in
" diameter. Buffalo were driven into a V-shaped trap and
forced info the lake, making capture easy. Stone mills, pot-
tery ware, arrow heads of flint and other relics can now
be seen =t Smithsonian Institute and U. P, Museum at Omaba,
Nebraska.

No. 2. Small number of cave dwellers llved hera, Action of flood
waters have covered lower parts of cave with sand and
gravel,

James Bridgar meeis Indians whe tell him of beaver and other
fur bear'ng apimals up Willow Creek canyan. Neo, 4, Bridger
F—.gkes survay and prints his name on free at top of moun-
ain.

. Julie McCrary and George Jasan Wells, born here Aug. 22{
and. August 23, [88], respectively.

Na. 3,

Ne. 5, Elizabeth Mallory first white child born in Box Flder County
July, 185), in wagon bex.
No. 7. Old Fort wall half mile long, quarter mile wide, began 1852

ccompleted in (855, built of rock on North and East sides,
mud and rock on South and West sides, walls 12 feet high,
two feet thick at top., One of the largest and strongest forts
built in Utah,

. Ox-team of M, W, Dalton drawing lember from first saw mill
-on right fork Willard canyen,

No. 9, First water-power malasses mill cperated by Joha P. Wood.

Ne. 10. Here Evan Stephens at the age of [4 years fended a flock of
shesp and wrote, "A Mormon Boy,' "Sweet |s The DBreath of
Morning Air," "Tree To The Faith' and other church hymns.

Mo. 11, Indian wickiup made of willows and bark.

Na. 12, Narrow gauge Wtah Northern Railroad train stapping in or-
chard and vinevard of Call Brothers fo fake grapes hanging

. on lence ol railrood right-of-way,

No, 13. First lield being plewed by ox-team in Box Elder County,

No, 14. Jehn L. Edwards gaihering beei cattle to sell to railroad
company when Golden Spike was driven at Promontory.

No. 15, Firsi flour mill in Nerthern Utah built by Elisha Mallory,
owneel and remedeled by O. and H., Call.

No. 16, Sailboat on lake operated by Gordaon Nicholas between Wil
lard and Promontory,

Mo, 17, The old swimming hale just Wesi ol ihe counly roarl,

{CONTINUED ON FOLLOWING PAGE)




: *aamad AYS JO SIUSR[ PUR UGIZIA Jom

'waRYy @
uglpu| ‘sial3jas 483 AY} 40 BUO S| C§ UBIIBUOP jo Awol C|p CGN 8 @3snpt pue Japsewysod Jsiy Jauleps uellojog fa un_En____u,“
: : ‘yeaymyoNg pue Sued Jebns jo plaly O ‘ON "umo} YbBhatyy "y NN
' ‘apis wiepunow sy} uo sjeob PIIA GE "ON abneb moueu plo oYy} Pema|io) Ry peoljiey Ji4nalg Jo jodaq
ﬂ "SLIAUDD M2U PUE UAJPR|IY> peaydeq iU SPESejCL) JRf|o Uspoom s} pay
. sauop ujwelueg Yy3ium uj poJ P|O 4O J8UI0D LUl pajelo| pusd CEE ON -psado pue jayoy 4511} PSJINPLCT Oym Loje@ M, W 1o BuloH
; -jaydoso|lyd pue uepajsiy ‘weBloy pIEMp3 Jo sWOH JE “ON ‘aJnje(siba yeyn ui Apncy
¢ equyny ‘hued §o. Jayoeay jooyds jsiip 'Alag Jspuexs|y jo awol 9 "GN Japg Xog jo asalpjuasaiday  Alea 'amo WeljipA jo WOl
' ‘3puejs mou As|ppeg PAEMOH jo aluoy *suwdy g g*] dejndod Auels jo Jasod
[Rpyneay eaym ‘pasowas aaus Bud ‘l|e) Jewoy jo awoH S "ON -wod pue Joyne ‘saysea) 2fsnw 'pdleg ‘g Haqoy (o swoy
i R .1._m=_.>) jo . “slAR() piE3iy Jo sWal
doyslg '|]epUnZ weyeiqy pue |spun7 qoief LGP jo Swoy CpE CON ‘doyslg puodas 'pleg "m 8blcsg jo swoy
+§SIpIRYDIC PUR 1GULIRY |N§ssSO0NS ‘vosely 201039 ja awol CEf 'ON -juaws|as ayj jo 4stuebio ayp sesm SIRIA GE JO} pue wleq

INVIOVd SNILYYLSNTTI ANy SIINLONd NI 4101 Lsé6l Ol

‘€ 'ON
It "eN
'0E "ON
wz

‘B "ON
‘LT TN
T 9N

1521

sem Caluy  Craquboep sy dseym Csajunig lgdaN  Jo Bwap
*g|dwa) UeBG] UD PEYJOM PUE PIR||IA Ul S3SN0L yIC)

3y} Jo AUBW J|INQ OHM VOSBW SUOYS 'SAUDP YIRIPEYG JO AWOH
TSRIQUYIALN _."uﬂmﬂﬂ jo UEDI

sieySumop S||BYSIEW 5 [} a4}

Q) JSUuULlp 4IYILLD  pBAlas ays Iyigm w.__.m*mn: Spiy O} sqely-ca
o} PyaJtp 'douealy 'a)im Sy 2iEym [|BD) Jaw( jo swol
“umol ul EIET'Y S||eysie "5 ) ey} usdyirig Yy wles

of pesn muEquDm jj8q @ sSem yoium uo asnol [GoY3s 45214
*ylog plo sy} wolp UsYB JGI 1O JING artom ‘pRUcyUIL laye
-a1a8y saloy se ||as 2 'ydlyM Jo Uoljepuno) ‘asnop BulRaky
easy mo|iay o doysig gsiy ‘pleqgny ‘A $3RYD JC AWOH
‘jlosss Bulyieq pue duiysip pUSd i

WOYd Q@IVTIIM 40 AY¥OLSIH

TedHlrT T T T T T - T




WILLARD CENTENNIAL CELEBRATION

SATURDAY, MARCH 81, 1951

PROGRAM

Commencing at 10:00 A. M.
1. Call to order and introduction of Master of Ceremonies, J. A. Ward.
Community Singing, directed by Edith Harding.
Prayer, Bishop A. B. Taylor. .

" Welcome Address, Bishop Delbert E. Cook.
Sole, Lavern Gull.
Barly History of Willard, 1851 to 1900, Phoebe Harding.
Instrumental Duet, Helen Jane Lemon and Athlene Toombs.
History of Willard from 1900 to 1951, J. Welton Ward.
Song, by Choir, directed by Edith Harding.
Solo, Roberta Story.
Tribute To Pioneers, W. W. Owens.

Solo, Don Woodyatt.

Number by “01d Timer” and singing of “The Bull Fight” by B C. Call
and W. Vosco Call. _ ‘

14. Closing Song, Choir.

15. Benediction and Blessing of Food, Willard Facer.

A bangquet will follow the program, $1.00 per plate. This will be ser-
ved to all of high school age and over. Pleage bring your own silverware,
Picture show during the banguet in the auditorium.

After banquet, Historical Pageant written by B. C. Call and daughter
Marie Call Webb, and directed by Edith Baddley and Rex Edwards.

Tree dance in the evening with floor show. during intermission.

© P N e e w N
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SUNDAY, APRIL 1, 1951
Under Direction of Bishoprie
Sunday School will be held as usual at 10:30 A. M.

11:15 A. M.—Regular Fast Day Services.

All former ward members as well as present ward members are invited to
join in praise and thanksgiving to our Father in Heaven at this Cen-
tennial testimony meeting. _

7:30 P. M.—Special services. Joel Richards, grandson of Willard Rich-
ards Tor whom Willard was named, and a brother of Le Grand Rich-
ards, also recent president of Northwestern States Mission and a
very fine speaker, will be the prineipal speaker of the evening.
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